
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764599 
e-mail: Demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL

Date & Time - Tuesday, 15 January 2019 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Policy Development Panel:

Councillors: D Ashby, J R Astill, F Biggadike, M D Booth, H Drury, L J Eldridge, 
P C Foyster, A Harrison, J L King, J D McLean (Vice-Chairman), A M Newton, 
J L Reynolds, S-A Slade, E J Sneath, J Tyrrell and A R Woolf (Chairman)

Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings.

Quorum: 6

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   7 January 2019



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 
2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 

Policy Development Panel held on 7 November 2018 (copy enclosed).
(Pages 
3 - 8)

3. Declaration of Interests. - Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.

4. Questions asked under Standing Order 6 

5. Tracking of recommendations - To consider responses of the Cabinet 
reports of the Panel.  

6. Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel 

7. Key Decision Plan - To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy 
enclosed).  

(Pages 
9 - 14)

8. Policy Register - To note the current Policy Register (copy enclosed). (Pages 
15 - 22)

9. Tenancy Agreement Update - To advise members of the consultation 
process required to amend the Council’s Introductory and Secure 
Tenancy Agreement (report of the Portfolio Holder Housing and Health 
and the Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages 
23 - 66)

10. Corporate Enforcement Policy Update - To provide members with an 
update on enforcement activities since the introduction of the new 
Corporate Enforcement Policy in June 2018 (report of the Executive 
Director Place enclosed).

(Pages 
67 - 86)

11. Policy Development Panel Work Programme - To consider the Work 
Programme of the Policy Development Panel (Report of the Assistant 
Director, Democratic Services is enclosed).

(Pages 
87 - 94)

12. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  



- 20 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Meeting 
Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 7 November 2018 
at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

A R Woolf (Chairman)
J D McLean (Vice-Chairman)

J R Astill
F Biggadike
M D Booth
H Drury

L J Eldridge
P C Foyster
A Harrison
A M Newton

J L Reynolds
E J Sneath

In Attendance:  The Housing Services Manager, the Licensing and Business Support 
Manager, the Place Manager and the Democratic Services Officer

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J L King and S-
A Slade 

Action By
30. MINUTES 

Policy Development Panel - 19 September 2018

Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the 
Policy Development Panel which was held on 19 September 2018

AGREED:

That the minutes be signed as a correct record

Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel - 4 October 2018

Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the Joint 
Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel 
which was held on 4 October 2018

AGREED:

That the minutes be signed as a correct record.

31. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were none

32. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were none

Page 3

Agenda Item 2.



- 21 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 7 
November 2018

33. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were no tracking of recommendations

34. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL 

There were none

35. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the key decision plan published on 19 
October 2018

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted.

36. POLICY REGISTER 

Consideration was given to the Policy Register dated 24 October 
2018.

Members wanted to make note of the fact that several items were 
significantly out of date. The Vice-Chairman stated that whilst this 
was true, significant improvements had been made to delivering 
the policy reviews on time and that the authority was on track to 
be completely up-to-date in the near future.

AGREED:

That the Policy Register Be noted.

37. REVISED TENANCY AGREEMENT FOR HOUSING TENANTS 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health and the Executive Director – Place which 
sought to advise members of the consultation process required to 
amend SHDC’s Introductory and Secure Tenancy Agreement.

The Housing Services Manager stated that the changes were 
designed to toughen the agreement, including a requirement for 
new tenants to provide 4 weeks worth of rent up front upon 
commencing a tenancy and allowances for greater controls over 
pet ownership in rented properties among other changes. It was 
stated that the changes were being made to make the Authority 
compliant with recent changes to several pieces of legislation.

Page 4



- 22 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 7 
November 2018

Members stated that they felt that they agreed with the changes. 
However, they asked about references to tenants agreeing to the 
condition of a property when they took it. They were concerned 
that this would bar tenants from complaining about poor 
conditions. The Place Manager stated that the authority still had 
standards that they would be obliged to keep properties in line 
with.

Members also referred to demands for tenants to move in to 
properties immediately upon taking of the contract. The Housing 
Services Manager  responded that this was because tenants 
would not be able to claim benefits until they showed they were 
moving in.

Members asked which tenants would be consulted and whom the 
changes would be made for. The Housing Services responded 
that both the consultation and the final document would be for all 
tenants and would not exclude any group.

Members asked how checks would be made for compliancy. The 
Housing Services Manager responded that the authority had 
implemented annual visits. 

The Chairman asked how many chances would be given to non-
compliers to the changes. The Housing Services Manager stated 
that changes were being looked at to toughen up on enforcement 
as it was generally agreed that the Authority had been lenient on 
enforcement and that it was the prevailing opinion that this should 
be changed.

The Chairman asked about paragraph 1.6 of the report, 
questioning why the current tenants were being given a 28 day 
consultation period on the new agreement. The Housing Services 
Manager stated that the Housing Act 1985 made this an 
obligation.

Members asked if there was any help available for people who 
were unable to meet tenancy conditions. The Housing Services 
Manager stated that it was very much the opinion of the Housing 
Team that they wanted to avoid enforcing against people who had 
legitimate reasons that meant they were unable to meet 
conditions, and that considerations would be made on a case-by-
case basis.

The Chairman noticed the expansion of the definition of anti-
social behaviour and asked for examples of what would be newly 
considered anti-social behaviour. The Housing Services Manager 

Page 5



- 23 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 7 
November 2018

responded that this could now include untidy gardens and 
intimidating behaviour such as noise etc.

Members asked if there was a system in place of matching a 
property to a tenant. The Housing Services Manager responded 
that tenants would only be offered properties which fit their needs.

AGREED:

1) That the Panel note the intention to update the Council’s 
Introductory and Secure agreement.

2) That the Panel notes the formal consultation process 
required to make changes to the tenancy agreement.

38. SAFEGUARDING POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Strategy, Governance and Transformation and the Portfolio 
Holder for Communities and Facilities which sought the panel’s 
recommendation that the Safeguarding Policy go forward to 
Cabinet for consideration.

The Licensing and Business Support Manager introduced the 
report stating that the policy had been influenced by similar 
policies held by other Lincolnshire authorities. It was stated that it 
was hoped that the implementation would be complimented with 
some training and extensive communications.

The Vice-Chairman asked what the term ‘mate crime’ was defined 
as. The Licensing and Business Support Manager responded that 
this was related to people maliciously befriending vulnerable 
people and exploiting them. The Licensing and Business Support 
Manager stated that she could include clarification of the ‘jargon’ 
in the report.

The Vice-Chairman asked if the Authority held responsibility for 
the acts of their contractors. The Licensing and Business Support 
Manager responded that the authority did take responsibility but 
that contractors were always asked for their safeguarding policy 
to ensure that it was complaint with SHDC’s

The Vice-Chairman stated that he had noticed a lack of reference 
to mental health issues. He wondered if the policy could be used 
to cover people with Mental Health issues. The Licensing and 
Business Support Manager responded that this was a good point 
and that she could put some work in to ensure that the policy had 
at least some cover for Mental Health issues

Page 6



- 24 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 7 
November 2018

Members asked if anyone needed to receive a DBS check. The 
Licensing and Business Support Manager responded that officers 
of the Council would only require such a check in certain 
circumstances as prescribed by the guidance for DBS checks. 

Members stated they had never been DBS checked and felt that 
the lack of demand for members to be checked seemed to be an 
oversight. Other members replied that it should be the 
responsibility of members themselves to take any necessary 
steps that were relevant to the work they wished to carry out. The 
Licensing and Business Support Manager responded that 
members were not checked because there were limitations on 
whom the authority were allowed to check, but stated that 
members may be free to apply for a check  themselves.

Members felt that it was expected that a District Councillor would 
have been DBS checked. They felt that all members would come 
into contact with children and vulnerable people as part of their 
duties. Members felt that they should be encouraged to volunteer 
for a DBS Check. Officers stated that they felt that this could be 
something that could be raised with the Democratic Services and 
Legal departments for clarification.
 
AGREED:

1) That the Policy Development Panel notes the new 
safeguarding policy

2) That the Policy Development Panel recommend that the 
policy goes to Cabinet for approval.

39. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

The Chairman wanted information on where the Public Open 
Spaces Task Group was. A member of the task group responded 
that there were issues found with the report of the task group and 
that the Chairman of the Public Open Spaces Task Group was 
going back to officers for more work to be done to improve the 
policy and the task group would be meeting again to discuss the 
changes.

AGREED:

That the work programme be noted.

Page 7



- 25 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 7 
November 2018

40. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were none.

(The meeting ended at 7.50 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 8



1

KEY DECISION PLAN Issued – 7 January 2019

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to: 

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.  

Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

2

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

CSU Building 
Materials 
Contract

To award a contract. Portfolio Holder for 
Housing. 

Meetings and discussions. 

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Apr 
2019

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

CSU Electrical 
Materials Supply 
Contract (EMSC) 
2017 - 2021

To award the EMSC to the successful 
supplier from the outcome of the 
procurement process Meetings and discussions

Officer Decisions Before 
30 Apr 2019

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

Flat Roof 
replacement and 
repairs Contract

For the replacement of various types of 
flat roofs to Council Dwellings, 
outbuildings and garages, which have 
reached the end of their lifespan and 
require replacement or repairs.

Flat Roof 
replacement 
and repairs 
Contract

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 31 Mar 
2019

P
age 10



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

3

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

Chimney repairs, 
repointing and 
removal Contract

For the Chimney repairs, repointing 
and removal including Pitched roof 
repairs to various council dwellings as 
identified in reaching the end of their 
lifespan, or the chimney is no longer 
required.

Chimney 
repairs, 
repointing and 
removal 
Contract

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 31 Mar 
2019

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

General Repairs 
- Maintenance of 
footpaths, 
roadways and 
boundary walls.

For the external general repairs for 
concrete footpaths, roadways and 
boundary walls, serving council 
dwellings and garages, which have 
reached the end of their lifespan and 
require replacement or repairs.

General Repairs 
- Maintenance 
of footpaths, 
roadways and 
boundary walls.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 31 Mar 
2019P

age 11



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

4

Portfolio Holder 
for Place

Lincolnshire 
Waste 
Partnership - 
Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy

To provide members with the JMWMS 
that has been created by the 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership

Lincolnshire 
Waste 
Partnership - 
Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy

Cabinet 15 Jan 2019

Portfolio Holder 
for Corporate 
Delivery and 
Strategic 
Oversight

A report 
concerning a 
proposed HRA 
development at 
Small Drove, 
Weston

To consider a business case in relation 
to the development of 34 affordable 
homes at Small Drove, Weston.

A report 
concerning a 
proposed HRA 
development at 
Small Drove, 
Weston

South Holland District 
Council 23 Jan 2019

P
age 12



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

5

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 31 Jan 
2019

Leader

Retention Policy

To approve a shared Retention Policy 
for both South Holland District Council 
and Breckland District Council

Retention Policy Cabinet 12 Feb 2019

*Cabinet Membership
The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
Councillor T Carter (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor P E Coupland (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C Johnson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

P
age 13



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

6

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

P
age 14

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


1

SHDC Policy Register
Generated on: 20 December 2018

Rows are sorted by Approved Date

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Affordable Housing 
Policy

Non Statutory 01-Jan-2009 3 years 01-Jan-2012 Being Reviewed This policy sits 
within the Local plan 
and will therefore be 
approved alongside 
it. The local plan has 
been submitted and 
it is anticipated to be 
approved in 
Nov/December of 
2018 by the Joint 
planning committee.

Matthew Hogan

Strategic Tenancy Policy Statutory 12-Sep-2012 3 years 12-Sep-2015 Being Reviewed Confirmed with 
Matthew Hogan that 
the update provided 
to PDP was to come 
back in Feb 2019 
with an update on 
the position

Matthew Hogan

South Holland Common 
Housing Allocations 
Policy

Statutory 01-Jun-2013 3 years 01-Jun-2016 Pending Approval This policy has been 
approved by PDP 
but has still yet to go 
for final approval, 
Democratic services 
working with 
Housing to get on 
the forward plan for 

Phil Stacey

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 8.



2

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

final approval
Asset Management 
Strategy

Constitutional 18-Jun-2014 5 years 18-Jun-2019 Pending Approval This will be reviewed 
as per the schedule, 
the service is 
currently looking at 
producing an 
integrated strategy 
which will involve 
high level 
discussions with 
Councillors and 
Senior managers 
and therefore will 
incur delays.

Ross Hastie

Statement of Licensing 
Policy

Constitutional 07-Jan-2016 5 years 07-Jan-2021 Approved Statutory 
requirement to 
review every 5 years  

Donna Hall

Corporate Asbestos 
Policy

Statutory 22-Jun-2016 2 years 22-Jun-2018 Being Reviewed The Revised Policy 
is still in draft format 
and requires further 
discussion with the 
areas concerned 
before it can be 
completed. As there 
is a Corporate 
Health & Safety 
Policy in place, all 
other aspects of 
Health and Safety 
are covered under 
procedures. 
Consideration is 
being given to 
creating a procedure 

Emily Ferrier; Nick 
Kendrick

P
age 16



3

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

as opposed to a 
policy on Asbestos. 
This would remove it 
from the need to go 
through PDP etc., 
but would not 
diminish its 
importance.

In terms of re-
assurance matters 
involving asbestos 
are still being 
handled as they 
always have within 
all of our properties 
i.e. Asbestos 
Registers, licensed 
asbestos is being 
removed only by 
competent licensed 
asbestos removal 
companies, any 
operatives required 
to work on or near 
non-licensed 
asbestos have 
received suitable 
and sufficient 
training on “Working 
on non-licensed 
asbestos”. The 
principle has never 
changed from the 
last policy.

P
age 17



4

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Anti-Social Behaviour 
Policy

Statutory 01-Jul-2016 3 years 01-Jul-2019 Approved SHDC is now using 
the Lincolnshire 
ASB Strategy in 
conjunction with 
South Hollands 
enforcement policy, 
if a separate ASB 
policy is still required 
then the service has 
stated this could be 
prepared for Q4 
18/19

Dee Bedford

HR Policy Handbook Non Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years 18-Jan-2020 Approved Claire Burton
Corporate Debt Policy - 
Accounting Services

Non Statutory 25-Jul-2017 3 years 25-Jul-2020 Approved This will be reviewed 
as per the schedule

Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Sexual Establishments 
Policy Statement

Non Statutory 06-Sep-2017 3 years 06-Sep-2020 Approved https://democracy.
sholland.gov.uk/ie
ListDocuments.asp
x?CId=141&MId=22
27&Ver=4

Donna Hall

Unreasonable Behaviour 
and vexatious requests

Non Statutory 21-Nov-2017 3 years 21-Nov-2020 Approved Approved by 
Council.  Now on 
SHDC intranet and 
website.

 

just need to email 
SMT to provide link 
and confirm

Sarah Wolstenholme-
Smy

Health & Safety Policy Statutory 22-Nov-2017 2 years 22-Nov-2019 Approved Complete on 
forward plan 

Emily Ferrier1; Nick 
Kendrick

P
age 18

https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2227&Ver=4


5

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

awaiting approval 
from EMT

Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Policy

Non Statutory 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 Approved This is due to Gov & 
Aud committee in 
December 17

Faye Haywood; Emma 
Hodds

Whistleblowing Policy - 
Confidential Reporting 
Code

Statutory 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 Approved This is due to Gov & 
Aud committee in 
December 17

Faye Haywood; Emma 
Hodds

Constitution Statutory 18-Jan-2018 1 year 18-Jan-2019 Approved Changes continue to 
be made when and 
where necessary 
and agreed at 
Council on a regular 
basis.

Rhonda Booth

AHM Collections 
Development Policy

Non Statutory 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Approved Email attached to 
advise that desktop 
review has taken 
place and policies 
are ok for next 2 
years.

Julia Knight

AHM Collections Care 
and Conservation Policy

Non Statutory 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Approved Email attached to 
advise that desktop 
review has taken 
place and policies 
are ok for next 2 
years.

Julia Knight

Corporate Plan Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2019 Approved Plan is reviewed 
annually  

Greg Pearson

Capital Strategy Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Corporate Charging 
Policy - Accounting 

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

P
age 19



6

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Services
Medium Term Financial 
Strategy

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Treasury Policy 
Statement & Clauses to 
be Adopted

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 
Statement

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year 08-Mar-2019 Approved Mark Astbury; Samantha 
Knowles

Data Protection Policy Statutory 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved Agreed at 29th May 
Cabinet

Mark Stinson

Corporate Enforcement 
Policy

Non Statutory 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved Sarah Shipley

Equalities Policy Non Statutory 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Being Reviewed Equalities policy is 
being presented at 
the 26th June PDP

Greg Pearson

Freedom of Information 
(FoI) Policy

Statutory 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Being Reviewed FOI policy is being 
presented at the 
26th June PDP

Greg Pearson

Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy

Statutory 01-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved Draft received and 
approved for sign off 
at PDP in 
September 2018

Clinton Bell

Hate Crime Policy Non Statutory 01-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved superceded by 
county policy - 
internal procedures 
will be updated as 
per agreement wth 
policy panel

Dee Bedford

P
age 20



7

Policy Title Policy Type Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Safeguarding Policy Statutory 20-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved Policy approved at 
SHDC cabinet 
20/11/18

Donna Hall

Gambling Policy - 
Statement of Principles

Constitutional 28-Nov-2018 3 years 28-Nov-2021 Approved Approved at SHDC 
full council 28/11/18

Donna Hall

 

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and/or Executive Director - Place

To: Policy Development Panel, 15 January 2019
Cabinet, 12 February 2019

(Author: Vikki Cherry Housing Services Manager)

Subject Tenancy agreement update

Purpose: To advise Members of the consultation process required to amend the 
Council’s Introductory and Secure Tenancy Agreement. 

Recommendation(s)

1) That the report is noted and the Panel provide feedback before the report is taken to Cabinet 
on 12 February 2019.  

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Tenancy Agreement was last reviewed in 2011 to reflect the implementation of 
Introductory Tenancies (where tenants have a year’s trial with reduced rights (extended to 
a maximum of 18 months)).  All tenants were last consulted on changes to the Agreement 
in 2005. (Tenants were not consulted on the 2011 Agreement as the changes only affected 
new tenants).  

1.2 The proposed new Tenancy Agreement is attached at appendix 1. The Agreement sets out 
the rights and responsibilities of the Council and our tenants, and applies to Introductory 
and Secure tenancies. There are no proposals to offer Fixed Term tenancies. Non-secure 
tenancies are not currently being reviewed.  Failure to adhere to the tenancy agreement 
can result in warning letters, legal notices, fines and ultimately possession.  

1.3 There is a legal requirement to consult with tenants on any changes to the Agreement (as 
per the Housing Act 1985). Relevant internal stakeholders (including Legal, Housing and 
Communities) have been consulted with.     

1.4 The majority of changes proposed are around clarity and ability to enforce as well as 
strengthening the rights and responsibilities of tenants. A summary of the material changes 
the existing Agreement can be found in appendix 2.  

1.5 The Agreement reflects the following new pieces of legislation:
 Antisocial Behaviour and Policing Act 2014 
 Localism Act 2011, 
 General Data Protection Regulation 2018. 

1.6 The consultation for the Agreement review will be conducted in accordance with sections 
102-103 of the Housing Act 1985.  The Housing Services Manager will write to all tenants 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9.



informing them by a Preliminary Notice (appendix 3) that we wish to vary the terms of the 
Tenancy Agreement. The intention is to issue this Notice in March 2019. 

1.7 In addition to the Preliminary Notice, tenants will be provided with the following documents:
 draft copy of the Agreement (appendix 1), 
 summary of changes (appendix 2), 
 Frequently Asked Questions paper (appendix 4).  

1.8 Tenants will be given a period of 28 days consultation.  Methods of consultation will include 
an online survey, and the option to send comments to a dedicated email address/by post. 
Sheltered Housing residents will have the opportunity to comment at Meet and Greet 
sessions also. 

1.9 New tenants that sign their tenancy agreement after the Preliminary Notice is sent will be 
issued with a copy of the Preliminary Notice at the point of sign up.  

1.10 A page on the Council’s website will be produced setting out the proposed changes and the 
consultation process.  

1.11 All comments will be logged and will inform the final Tenancy Agreement.  The report 
requests that authority to sign off the final Agreement (following consultation) is delegated 
to the Executive Director Place.  

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Approve the draft proposed Agreement and the service of a Preliminary Notice under 
section 103, Housing Act 1985 to all Council tenants on an introductory or secure tenancy  
(to begin the formal consultation process).   Delegate permission for final amendments 
(following consultation) to the Executive Director Place. 

2.2 Do nothing, continue to operate under the conditions of the existing two out of date 
Tenancy Agreements.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The reason for reviewing the Agreement is to provide an updated Agreement for tenants to 
reflect changes in legislation and operational practice. The revised document is clearer and 
easier for tenants to understand, helping them to meet their obligations as a tenant and 
sustain their tenancy.  A revised Tenant’s Handbook will also be produced as part of this 
work. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 One Agreement in place, reducing confusion for officers and tenants.  

4.2 Addressing concerns regarding fire safety including storage of items in communal areas 
and bonfires. 

4.3 Use of the Antisocial Behaviour and Policing Act 2014 through warnings and notices to 
address issues such as untidy gardens and noise nuisance.  Penalties include financial 

Page 24



penalties, orders for work to be carried out and charged to the tenant, and possession of 
the property.  

4.4 Reduction in rent arrears due to the requirement of payment of four week’s rent in advance 
for all new tenants, and formal action being taken for the repeat late payment of rent. 

4.5 Improved property condition through the ability to treat hoarding as a breach of tenancy and 
considering overgrown gardens to be cases of anti-social behaviour/nuisance. 

4.6 Reduction in complaints as a result of the flexibility on the number of pets depending on 
property size, and also ability to withdraw permission if issues arise from pets.  Dogs no 
longer being allowed in flats (for new tenants).  Existing tenants will be able to keep up to 2 
dogs and 3 cats without permission until they move property. 

4.7 Reduction in outgoings through a stronger emphasis on repairs and re-charging tenants for 
work that is their responsibility.  This will result in additional income to the Council.  Photos 
of the condition of the property at sign-up will support this process.  

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
5.1.1 It is a legal requirement to serve the Notice and proposed Agreement on all tenants.  This 

requirement will be met by printing and posting papers out.  The authority does not have 
reliable contact details for tenants to send the papers by email and so could not guarantee 
they have been served.
  

5.1.2 A section will be added to the website for tenants to update their contact details. The link to 
this section of the website will be included in letters and tenants will be encouraged to 
complete this as part of their response to the consultation.  (This exercise will assist with 
future communications to tenants by email on non-legal matters).  

5.2 Constitutional & Legal
5.2.1 The review of the Tenancy Agreement meets a statutory requirement. There is a 

requirement for the review to be conducted in accordance with sections 102-103 of the 
Housing Act 1985.  

5.2.2 The Council is at risk of legal challenge around fulfilling the terms of the Housing Act 1985, 
section 103.  A tenant may challenge the variation on the basis of not being consulted or 
not receiving a copy of the preliminary notice.   The Notice will be posted to all tenants 
(along with a copy of the proposed Agreement), and information will be added to the 
Council’s website to mitigate this risk.  

5.3 Corporate Priorities

Page 25



5.3.1 The Agreement review underpins the relationship between the Council as a landlord and its 
tenants, by delivering sustainable tenancies, and therefore more settled communities.  This 
helps to support the Council’s priority of having pride in South Holland by supporting the 
district and residents to develop and thrive, and developing safer, stronger, healthier and 
more independent communities whilst protecting the most vulnerable. 

5.4 Crime and Disorder
5.4.1 The Agreement refers to the Antisocial Behaviour and Policing Act 2014.  There are many 

tools available under this act to address nuisance including the issue of Community 
Protection Notices and fixed term penalties, injunctions and mandatory possession ground 
in extreme cases of antisocial behaviour.  

5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.5.1 There is a potential for certain groups to be disadvantaged by the terms of the tenancy 

agreement, for example, tenants on a low income. 

5.5.2 Tenants may struggle to pay the required four weeks rent in advance.  Officers have the 
ability to reduce this amount in extenuating circumstances.  Assistance is available (in the 
form of a grant) to existing Housing Benefit/Universal Benefit claimants towards rent in 
advance payments through the authority’s Discretionary Housing Payment scheme.  Many 
social landlords require rent in advance with local housing associations currently requiring 
four weeks rent in advance also. 

5.5.3 Affordable payment arrangements will be available to tenants to repay the charge for 
repairs that are the responsibility of the tenant. 

5.5.4 Tenants whose first language is not English may require additional support to ensure they 
fully understand the terms of the Tenancy Agreement.  Copies of the Agreement will be 
translated upon request.

5.6 Financial
5.6.1 The Housing Revenue Account will incur the cost of printing and postage to send the 

required notice and Agreements to all households.  
 

5.7 Health & Wellbeing
5.7.1 Sustainable tenancies will support the health and wellbeing of residents of South Holland.

5.8 Risk Management
5.8.1 The Council must ensure that all tenants receive a copy of the Preliminary Notice and 

sufficient information to understand the proposals being considered.  Postage is considered 
an acceptable means and the authority is not required to provide proof of postage/similar.  

5.8.2 The terms of the Agreement must be seen to be reasonable, not interfere with the tenant’s 
right to respect for family and private life and not discriminate on equality grounds 
unjustifiably.  

5.9 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales
5.9.1 Internal stakeholders have been consulted and their feedback has been included in the 

proposed Agreement.  External stakeholders will be consulted at the same time as tenants.  
The Agreement is intended to be ‘live’ by early summer 2019 (due to the legal timescales 
involved with consulting and informing tenants).  

Page 26



6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The review of the Agreement affects all wards.  

Background papers:- None 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Vikki Cherry Housing Services Manager
Telephone Number 01775 764707
Email: vcherry@sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: N
Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1 Proposed Agreement
Appendix 2 Summary of proposed changes 
Appendix 3 Preliminary notice 
Appendix 4 Frequently Asked Questions 

Page 27

mailto:vcherry@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 28

APPENDIX 1

South Holland District Council
Introductory/Secure 
Tenancy Agreement

This document is an Introductory/a Secure Weekly Tenancy Agreement
Between

South Holland District Council
(The Landlord)

And
INSERT TENANTS NAMES 

(The Tenant or Joint Tenant(s))
Of 

INSERT ADDRESS
(The Address) 

This is an important document and should be stored in a safe place.

Please contact us if you would like this agreement in other formats or languages.

Сообщите нам, пожалуйста, если Вам необходимо данное соглашение в других 
форматах или на других языках.

Deverá contactar-nos caso pretenda este acordo noutros formatos ou idiomas.

Prosimy o kontakt, jeśli potrzebują Państwo umowy tej w innym formacie lub języku.

Susisiekite su mumis, jeigu pageidaujate gauti šią sutartį kitu formatu arba kita kalba.

Lūdzu, sazinieties ar mums, ja vēlaties saņemt šo līgumu citā formātā vai citā valodā.

Tenancy Agreement version 2019

Page 29



Page 2 of 28

Introductory/Secure Tenancy Agreement 
This agreement makes you a tenant of South Holland District Council.  This document is the 
contract which sets out our responsibilities as your landlord and your rights and 
responsibilities as a tenant. 

This agreement is made between: 

The Landlord: South Holland District Council, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE

The tenant(s): INSERT NAMES 

The address of the property rented in this agreement is: INSERT ADDRESS 

The property is a INSERT NUMBER OF BEDROOMS AND PROPERTY TYPE, AND 
WHETHER IT IS GENERAL NEEDS/SHELTERED.  

The tenancy: 
You have a secure tenancy under the Housing Act 1985 OR an introductory tenancy under 
the Housing Act 1996.  The tenancy starts on INSERT DATE and is a weekly periodic 
tenancy.

Tenancy reference number: INSERT

Rent details 
The weekly payments for your home (including any charge for services provided under this 
tenancy) at the start of this tenancy are set out below.  These are reviewed on an annual 
basis. 

Net rent £ INSERT
Water charge £ INSERT
Sewage charge £ INSERT
Heating charge £ INSERT
Service charge(s) £ INSERT
Total weekly charge: £ INSERT

Your rent reference number is INSERT. You may need to refer to this number when paying 
your rent. 

Debt from a previous tenancy – DELETE WHERE NOT APPLICABLE 
I confirm that on DATE, I owe South Holland District Council a total of £INSERT for a 
previous tenancy at ADDRESS and agree to pay £XXX every week, or such other rate as we 
may agree from time-to-time, until the debt is cleared.  

It is a term of this tenancy agreement that you repay the debt of your former tenancy at the 
rate set out above. Nonpayment of this debt, will be considered a breach of your tenancy.  
We have the right to ask the court to make an order against you for possession of your 
home.  

Property condition 

In the case of joint tenants, the term ‘tenant’ or ‘you’ applies to each of you and the 
names of all joint tenants should be written above. Each tenant individually has the full 
responsibilities and rights set out in this tenancy agreement. 

Page 30



Page 3 of 28

Photographs are attached to this document to show the condition of the property at point of 
tenancy commencement.  ENSURE PHOTOS ATTACHED 

Garden details 
None / Shared / Sole use. 

Utility meter readings
Electric INSERT 
Gas (where applicable) INSERT
Water (where applicable) INSERT

Issue of keys:
You have been issued with XX set(s) of keys for doors.  Keys for the windows will be in the 
property.  You are responsible for the safekeeping and replacement of all keys for the doors 
and windows. 

I confirm that:
 The information I gave in my housing application or transfer application was and is still 

true. 
 I understand that sharing inaccurate information may be considered a breach of 

tenancy and I may lose my home. 
 I do not own any residential property elsewhere in the world. 
 I agree to accept the property in its current condition.

I have been given an opportunity to read the tenancy agreement and now agree to follow the 
terms and conditions. 

Tenant’s signature Tenant’s name Date 

Tenant’s signature Tenant’s name Date 

Signed on behalf of South Holland District Council

Officer’s signature Officer’s name Date 

Page 31



Page 4 of 28

Contents

1. About your tenancy agreement

2. Your rent and other charges 

3. Living in your home 

4. Fire safety

5. Communal areas

6. Access to your home

7. Looking after your garden

8. Keeping animals and pets

9. Vehicles and parking

10.Repairs and maintenance

11.Structural changes, alterations, improvements or additions

12.Criminal and anti-social behaviour

13.Ending your tenancy  

14.Succession 

15.  Assignment   

16.  Additional rights (secure tenants only)

17.Charging you

18.When you need our written permission 

19.Tenant Involvement and Consultation  

20.Service of notice

21.How we use your information 

22.Contact us 

23.Definitions

 

Page 32



Page 5 of 28

1. About your tenancy agreement
1.1 Welcome 

We are committed to ensuring that your home and the services we provide are of 
high quality. We want you to live in a peaceful neighbourhood free from anti-social 
behaviour. 

We expect you to take pride in your home and garden, and allow us to carry out 
repairs and inspections when required.  You must be a good neighbour by not 
causing nuisance, annoyance or disturbance to people nearby.  We expect you to 
respect our staff, agents and contractors. You must pay your rent and any service 
charge in full and on time.

1.2 Your agreement 
This tenancy agreement is a legal contract describing the terms and conditions of 
your tenancy and your rights and responsibilities as a tenant. This document 
describes either your secure tenancy under the terms of the Housing Act 1985, or 
your introductory tenancy under the Housing Act 1996. 

Some of the rights and responsibilities of the Council under this tenancy agreement 
may be exercised or provided by other agencies on behalf of the Council. Those 
agencies may enforce this tenancy agreement on the Council’s behalf including 
recovery of any payments due.

Where any term or condition of this tenancy agreement requires you to get 
permission from the Council, such permission will not be unreasonably withheld, but 
it may be given subject to conditions.  Permission may be withdrawn if conditions 
are not met.

Any reference to an Act of Parliament or regulation within this tenancy agreement 
includes any subsequent amendments to such legislation or regulations.

It is important that we make it clear from the start of your tenancy what you 
can expect of us and in turn, what we can expect from you during your 
tenancy.   

This document sets out your rights and responsibilities, and our 
responsibilities to you as your landlord under this tenancy agreement. 

You are responsible for the behaviour of every person in your household 
including children and people living in or visiting the property. You are 
responsible for their behaviour in the property, in communal areas and in the 
locality.  

If we fail to meet our responsibilities under this agreement, we expect you to 
tell us and give us the opportunity to put things right. If you break your side of 
the agreement, we will tell you and, wherever possible, give you a chance to 
put things right. If you fail to take this opportunity then we will take legal 
action and you may lose your home. We feel this approach is fair to ensure 
that all our residents can live happily in their homes.

This 
agreement 
should be 
read in 
conjunction 
with the 
Tenants’ 
Handbook. 

Further 
information 
on each item 
is included in 
the Tenants’ 
Handbook.  

Page 33



Page 6 of 28

Unless the contrary is stated or implied, the rights and obligations set out in this 
tenancy agreement are intended to replicate the rights and obligations established 
by statute, such as by the Housing Act 1985, Part IV and the Housing Act 1996 Part 
V. The contrary may be implied where, for example, rights and obligations are set 
out in the contract that either are not addressed by statute or where the statute gives 
the Council a discretion.

In the event that any part of this tenancy agreement becomes, illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of this agreement will continue to be valid and 
enforceable.

1.3 What is an introductory tenancy?
An introductory tenancy is a trial period for the first 12 months (unless extended). 
You will automatically become a secure tenant at the end of the introductory period 
if you keep to the terms and conditions of this tenancy agreement, and the Council 
has not started possession proceedings during the introductory period.  

An introductory tenant has fewer rights than a secure tenant and you can be evicted 
much more easily than a secure tenant if you do not comply with the terms and 
conditions of your tenancy.

Before taking action to extend your introductory tenancy or evict you, the Council 
must advise you of the following:

 the intention to evict you/extend the tenancy 
 the reasons why 
 how you can request a review of the decision.

1.4 What is a secure tenancy?
As a secure tenant, you can live in the property for as long as you wish, so long as 
you follow the conditions of your tenancy.  We can end your tenancy by applying to 
court for an order for possession as per the Housing Act 1985 or we can apply to the 
court to demote your tenancy so you have fewer rights. 

2. Your rent and other charges 
2.1 Rent
This is a weekly periodic tenancy which may start on any day of the week.  The term 
“rent” includes the weekly rent, service charges and any other weekly charges due 
for the property.  

As long as you do not breach the terms of this agreement, you will become a 
secure tenant on: XXXDATE

With our permission, secure tenants have the right to:
 buy their home 
 exchange their home
 take in a lodger 
 sub-let part of their home
 make improvements to their property.

The Council 
has the 
option of 
extending 
your 
introductory 
tenancy by 
an additional 
six months if 
you have not 
kept to the 
terms and 
conditions of 
the tenancy.

Your rent is 
due until the 
end of your 
tenancy.  See 
ending your 
tenancy 
section 13. 

Page 34



Page 7 of 28

When you sign the tenancy agreement you will be required to pay up to four weeks 
rent in advance including any proportion of a week’s rent if this tenancy commences 
on any day other than a Monday. This is a prepayment of rent and not a deposit. 

2.2 Paying your rent – your responsibilities 
Thereafter you must pay the rent and any other charges due for the property under 
this tenancy agreement. 

You may pay your rent weekly or for a longer period such as fortnightly, four-weekly 
or monthly but it must be paid at least one week in advance. 

 
It is your responsibility to claim for Housing Benefit/Universal Credit.  You must 
ensure that you provide all the information requested and update the provider of any 
changes in your personal circumstances.  

2.3 Service charges
We have the right to change any of the services we provide and the charges we 
make for these services. We can change the services at any time, but will consult 
with you first. We will give you four weeks' notice of any changes. We also have the 
right to change the amount we charge you for services. 

Sheltered Housing tenants are required to pay a service charge.  This charge 
includes:

 connection to an alarm service with the ability to add additional support 
services (at an extra charge) 

 guest rooms for family and friends to use 
 access to community facilities including community rooms and gardens.   

You must accept the level of services we provide. Failure to engage with/pay for the 
services provided will be considered a breach of this agreement.  We have the right 
to take court action to enforce this agreement or seek possession of your home. We 
will charge you the costs of taking you to court.

2.4 Changes to the rent
We may change your rent at any time – this usually happens in April. We will give 
you at least four weeks' notice in writing if we change the rent. The Notice will state 
the new rent and when you must start to pay it. 

You may be 
entitled to 
help with 
your rent in 
the form of 
Housing 
Benefit or 
Universal 
Credit. Your 
Housing 
Officer can 
advise you 
how to claim 
these 
benefits. 

Please see your Tenants’ Handbook for ways to pay your rent.  

If you are joint tenants you are each responsible for all the rent, other charges 
and for any arrears. The Council can recover all rent, other charges and any 
arrears owed for your tenancy from any individual joint tenant (whether they 
remain living at the property or otherwise).  

We will give you at least 4 weeks’ notice in writing if we change the service 
charge. The Notice will state the new service charge and when you must start 
paying it.

We review 
your rent 
amount 
annually. 

Page 35



Page 8 of 28

2.5 Difficulty paying your rent

If you do not pay your rent, or repeatedly pay it late, we may apply to the court for a 
possession order as per the Housing Act 1985 and 1996.  This could result in your 
tenancy ending and everyone living in your home being evicted. We can ask the 
court that you pay the Council’s legal costs.

The Council reserves the right to deduct money for rent, former tenant arrears, or 
outstanding court Costs from any money paid to you by the Council as your 
landlord, for example, as compensation for damage to your property or 
decorations, or for home loss and disturbance.  

2.6 Utilities  
You are responsible for paying direct to the supplier, other organisation, or authority 
all the charges that apply to your home.    

3. Living in your home 
3.1 Your only home 

If you don’t use the property as your only or principal home, we will take action to 
end the tenancy by serving a notice to quit. This notice can take any form.

If requested by the Council, you must provide proof:
 of your identity and the identity of anyone living with you; and
 that you are living in the property as your only or principal home.

3.2 Joint tenants 

If one joint tenant gives notice in writing to end the tenancy, it ends the whole 
tenancy, even if it was given without the knowledge or consent of the other joint 
tenant. You cannot withdraw the notice.  The remaining tenant will not have an 
automatic right to stay in the home after one of the joint tenants has ended the 
tenancy.

You cannot 
be evicted 
from your 
home without 
a court order.  

You must inform the Council immediately if you have any difficulty paying your 
rent.  We can support you to get back on track. 

If you are a joint tenant, you have the same rights and responsibilities as the 
other joint tenant. You cannot split those rights and responsibilities. If one 
tenant breaks the tenancy agreement, we hold all the joint tenants 
responsible. While your name is on the tenancy agreement, you are 
responsible for all the tenancy conditions, including paying the rent, even if 
you no longer live at the property.

You must occupy the property as your only or principal home.  You must move 
into your property on the day the tenancy starts.  

We will 
conduct 
periodic home 
visits.

Utilities 
include your 
gas, electric, 
water, 
sewerage 
provisions  
and council 
tax. 

Page 36



Page 9 of 28

3.3 Being away from your home

3.4 Abandonment 

If you do not contact us before this notice to quit expires and do not take up 
occupation of the property, we will consider that your tenancy has ended and take 
possession of the home. 

We will store any items left in the home, but not rubbish or damaged goods. We will 
serve a notice under the provisions of section 41 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, telling you when you must collect your 
possessions. We will give you at least 28 days to do this. We will send the notice to 
your last known address or any forwarding address that you have given to us, or in 
the absence of such an address, may affix it to the property. If the items are not 
collected, we will dispose of them and charge you our reasonable costs of disposal 
and storage.

3.5 Overcrowding
You must not allow new occupiers to move into your home where this would result in 
overcrowding under the Council’s Allocations and Lettings policy.   

3.6 Running a business from home 
You or any member of your household must not run a business from your home 
without obtaining prior written permission from the Council.  Permission is at our 
discretion, may be conditional, and may be revoked at any time.

3.7 Personal property and insurance
You are responsible for your personal property and the decoration of the interior of 
your home. We are not responsible for the loss or damage to any personal property 
unless the damage or loss is caused by the Council’s negligence.     

3.8 Support providers
You or any member of your household must co-operate with any assessment for, or 
offer of support providers to enable you to maintain your  tenancy.

We may serve a notice to quit to end your tenancy if you cease to occupy your 
home as your only or principal home, and do not return the keys to us/let us 
have written notice that you are leaving.  

We strongly recommend that you have contents insurance in place.

If you plan to be away from your home for more than 28 days, you must notify  
your Housing Officer of:

 the dates of your absence; and
 the name and contact details of a nominated key holder in case  of 

emergencies.
 You must ask our permission to appoint a caretaker.  Permission will 

not unreasonably be withheld. 

This includes 
if you are in 
hospital or 
prison 

Please see 
section 3.3 
about being 
away from 
your home 

A copy of the 
Allocations  
Policy is 
available at 
www.sholland.
gov.uk  

Please 
contact your 
Housing 
Officer if you 
need support 
managing 
your tenancy 

Page 37



Page 10 of 28

3.9 Covenants
Where the Council is notified of a covenant affecting the land, tenants will be asked 
to adhere to the restrictions of this covenant. We will notify you in writing of any 
covenants in place. 

4. Fire safety 
4.1 Bonfires 
You or any member of your household or visitors must not light bonfires in your 
garden or in any communal area. Any fireworks must be used safely and in line with 
manufacturer’s instructions. Fire pits, barbeques, chimineas and braziers must be 
used in accordance with manufacturer’s instructions.

4.2 Flammable material
You or any member of your household or visitors are only permitted to keep bottled 
gas, paraffin, petrol, LPG, acid or any other hazardous material in safe and secure 
storage and in suitable storage containers.  You can only keep a limited amount of 
such material that is reasonable for domestic use.  You must not keep such 
materials in any communal areas.

4.3 Gas and electricity safety
You or any member of your household or visitors must not tamper with gas or 
electricity supplies or with utility meters. 

4.4 Smoke and carbon monoxide detectors
You are responsible for maintaining any battery-operated smoke or carbon 
monoxide detector(s) that we have installed.  You are responsible for ensuring the 
detectors are in good working order. You must not tamper with or damage any 
smoke or carbon monoxide detector(s).

4.5 Emergency services access
You or any member of your household or visitors must not obstruct access to 
emergency service vehicles in any way. Your vehicle may be removed if it is 
blocking such access.

5. Communal areas

5.1 Smoking 
You or any member of your household or visitors must not smoke or use e-cigarettes 
in communal areas of the building.

5.2 Rubbish 
You or any member of your household or visitors must dispose of rubbish correctly 
in containers/bin areas provided by the Council.  You or any member of your 
household or visitors must not leave refuse bags, sacks, containers of recycling or 
any other items outside your front door or in the communal areas.

You or any member of your household or visitors must not interfere with security 
or safety equipment in blocks of flats or sheltered housing complexes. You must 
not jam, prop or leave shared entrance doors open.  You must not use any 
power supplies in communal areas for your own use.

Information on 
rubbish 
collection is 
available at 
www.sholland.
gov.uk 

Page 38

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


Page 11 of 28

5.3 Storage of items 
You or any member of your household or visitors must not store items in any 
communal areas such as hallways and landings. This includes personal belongings 
(such as bicycles, mobility scooters and push chairs), rubbish or dangerous items.  
We will remove and dispose of any objects found in communal areas. You may be 
required to pay for the cost of the removal and disposal of such items.

5.4 Lifts 
You or any member of your household or visitors must not interfere with the lift 
system or wedge lift doors open.  You or any member of your household or visitors 
must not urinate, defecate, graffiti or leave rubbish in the lifts.

5.5 Exterior of buildings
You or any member of your household or visitors must not fix any item to the outside 
walls. You or any member of your household or visitors must not allow or permit 
external window boxes or plants to be placed on any window sills.

6. Access to your home
You have a right to occupy your home in peace so long as you comply with this 
tenancy agreement.  You are required to give access to the Council, our agents or 
contractors as required by this agreement.  

You or any member of your household must make sure your property is safe for 
anyone accessing your home for any lawful reason, including gaining access to 
roofs and loft spaces.  You must ensure that your belongings do not affect access.  

You, members of your household or visitors must ensure that all animals are kept 
under control at all times, including when you are visited by the Council’s 
employees, contractors or agents. 

6.1 Emergency access

It is important 
that we have 
your most 
recent contact 
details.  

You or any adult member of your household must allow Council employees, 
their contractors, agents or other statutory bodies to enter your home (at 
reasonable hours) when you have    been given reasonable written notice 
(usually 24 hours).  Examples include, but are not limited to:

 carrying out maintenance, repairs, improvements or other works 
 carrying out gas safety checks or electrical safety checks, 
 inspecting the condition of the property.  

We will take legal action to gain access to your home, if you or any member of 
your household refuses access.  You may also have to pay the costs of this 
legal action.

In an emergency, we will make all reasonable attempts to contact you (by the 
contact details you have provided) to obtain access to your home.  However, 
should we fail to make contact, or it not be reasonable in the circumstances to 
contact you, the Council, or any person authorised by the Council, has the 
right to enter your home without giving any notice. 

Contractors 
and staff will 
wear 
identification.  
Please ask to 
see 
identification. 

Page 39



Page 12 of 28

We have a duty of care to residents so it is important that we have rapid access to 
the property in emergency situations.  

An emergency includes but is not limited to situations where:
 there is an imminent risk of physical harm to any person, or
 there is significant damage to the property or any other property in the 

locality, or 
 the property is unoccupied and inadequately secured against unauthorised 

entry or vandalism.  

We, our contractors or agents may do whatsoever is reasonably required to deal 
with the emergency in an appropriate manner.  We will make good any damage 
caused when entering the property. We will secure the property against 
unauthorized entry.    

You may be liable for any costs incurred by your failure to provide reasonable 
access in an emergency, when access has been unreasonably refused, or if the 
emergency is caused from neglect.

7. Looking after your garden

We will contact you if we have concerns about your garden and ask you to complete 
work within a reasonable timeframe.  We may complete the work and charge you for 
this if you are not willing to complete the work and there is no good reason why you 
or a member or your household cannot do the work.  If you are not willing to 
complete the required work, we may also take legal action.  Please see section 12, 
Criminal, Nuisance and Antisocial Behaviour, of this agreement. 

You must get our written permission before you:
 install decking, a conservatory, greenhouse, fence, wall, garage, shed, patio, 

animal enclosure, fishpond, pool or other structure in your garden
 remove, damage or destroy any trees
 remove, alter or replace any fencing or boundary
 plant trees.

8. Keeping animals and pets

You must keep all paths and garden areas within your home neat and tidy - 
lawns must be cut, hedges trimmed and trees pruned.  The garden area must 
be tidy and free from rubbish, pests, and animal waste or faeces.  

You must ensure that trees, hedges or bushes do not cause damage, 
nuisance or obstruction.  

You are responsible for maintaining fences. 

You may keep, up to 2 small caged birds, 1 small fish tank or 1 small caged 
rodent.  You must not keep any other type of animal at the property without 
prior written permission from the Council.  Property type and animal type will 
be taken into account.  Any permission given relates to this property only and 
will be reviewed if you move house.  

We will 
complete 
periodic 
inspections of 
your garden.  

Page 40



Page 13 of 28

Permission will not be given to tenants living in flats or bedsits with a communal 
entrance, unless the animal is recognised as an official support companion.  
Permission will not be given to store cockerels. 

You must not:
 breed animals at the property
 keep any breed of dangerous dog as per section 1(1) of the Dangerous Dogs 

Act 1991, or keep any illegal breed of animal as per Dangerous Wild Animals 
Act 1976 or similar 

 tether any livestock on any Council land 
 allow any animal to cause a nuisance, annoyance or disturbance to 

neighbours or others lawfully in the locality of your home,
 allow any animal to behave in an intimidating, aggressive or dangerous 

manner
 carry out acts of cruelty to animals.  Cases will be reported to the RSPCA or 

the police
 build any animal enclosures without our permission. 

Any permission given relates to this property only and if you move house, you must 
request permission for all animals. We have the right to withdraw at any time any 
permission implied by this agreement or expressly given. If permission is withdrawn, 
you must remove the animal from the property immediately.   

9. Vehicles and parking

Written permission must be sought from the Council before parking a trailer, 
caravan, campervan, large van, lorry, food truck, or boat within the boundary of your 
property. This is to ensure appropriate space and hardstanding is available. We 
have the right to withdraw this permission. 

You or any member of your household or visitors must not drive across a kerb or 
grassed areas to access the property.  We will inform Lincolnshire County Council’s 
Highways Department of tenants that repeatedly drive over raised kerbs.  

You or any member of your household or visitors must not dismantle or carry out 
major repairs to vehicles at your property.  You must not allow the premises to be 
used as a scrap metal or rubbish store, vehicle store or tyre store.  Any repair work 
required to the property as a result of storage of vehicles or repairing vehicles will be 
charged to you. 

You or any member of your household or visitors must not keep mopeds or 
motorbikes or any other vehicle inside the property or in indoor communal areas.

10. Repairs and maintenance
10.1 Condition of your home - your responsibilities 

Please see 
your Tenants’ 
Handbook for 
information 
around 
arranging for 
a dropped 
kerb.  

You or any member of your household must not keep more than 3 motor 
vehicles at your property without written permission.  Motor vehicles must be 
parked on hardstanding (not grass).   

You must keep your home clean, free from pests and in reasonable condition. 

Information on 
rubbish 
collection is 
available at 
www.sholland.
gov.uk Page 41

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


Page 14 of 28

You or any member of your household must dispose of rubbish appropriately. 

You must not access or store any belongings in loft spaces.  You must keep access 
to the loft clear so that contractors or our officers can carry out inspections or 
repairs. 

You must comply with any health and safety advice we give you during your 
tenancy.

You are responsible for decorating the interior of your home.  You must obtain the 
Council’s prior written permission before you install floor tiles, laminate/wooden 
flooring, or flooring of a similar nature. Permission will not be granted (unless in 
exceptional circumstances) to tenants living in flats and bed-sits. 

You must request permission to install satellite dishes.  Permission will be subject to 
conditions and may be revoked at any time. 

You must not do anything which increases the risk of fire, flood or damage to your 
property or adjoining properties. You may be responsible for repairing any damage 
as a result of not using your home in a responsible manner.

You must keep all grates, grids, drains and gullies clean and clear, except gutters 
that catch water from the roof, which are our responsibility.

10.2 Repairs - The Council’s responsibilities
The Council is responsible for repairing and maintaining:

 the structure and exterior of the property (including drains, gutters, external 
pipes, windows, outside doors, roofs and external decoration);

 the installations in the property for the supply of water, gas and electricity 
and for sanitation (including basins, sinks, baths and sanitary conveniences 
but not other fixtures, fittings and equipment for making use of the supply of 
water, gas or electricity);

 the installations in the property for space heating and heating water.
 all communal areas such as shared entrance doors, staircases, hallways,  

You can report 
a repair by 
calling 01775 
761161 or 
emailing 
info@sholland.
gov.uk

You, any member of your household, or visitor must not deliberately or 
negligently damage your home or any communal areas. You may be 
responsible for the costs involved with repairing any such damage.

You must make sure that at all times there is adequate ventilation and heating 
within your home and follow any advice given by the Council to prevent 
condensation. You may be responsible for any repair work if condensation 
occurs as a result of failing to adequately heat or ventilate your home, unless it 
occurs as a result of disrepair in the property.  

You and any member of your household must not allow a build-up of personal 
property, rubbish or other items in the property that:

 causes or is likely to cause damage or deterioration to the property; or
 poses a health or fire risk; or
 prevents safe access to or exit from your property.

Your 
handbook 
contains 
information on 
how to 
ventilate your 
property  

Page 42

mailto:info@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:info@sholland.gov.uk


Page 15 of 28

lighting in corridors and door-entry systems.

The Council will remove its rubbish, building materials and equipment from the 
property upon completion of the work.  You may be entitled to compensation if we 
fail within a reasonable time to carry out a repair that is our responsibility. 

10.3 Moving out temporarily (decanting)
You may be required to temporarily move out of your home if we need to carry out 
repairs or other works to your home, and we cannot reasonably do so while you live 
there.  We will provide you with alternative temporary accommodation while we do 
the work.  Once works are completed, you will be required to leave your temporary 
accommodation and move back to your original permanent property.  We have the 
right to take possession of your temporary property once work on your original 
property is finished.

10.4 Repairs - your responsibilities
Not all repairs are the Council’s responsibility.  If the repair is your responsibility, we 
will give you the opportunity to carry out the repair yourself (to a set standard and 
within a reasonable time) or pay us to complete the repair for you.  You must allow 
access to the    property for inspection and/or repair. 

If you are the victim of criminal damage to any part of your home, you must report 
the matter to the Police and get a crime reference number. We will carry out the 
repair at no charge to you if we are satisfied that the damage was not caused by 
you, for example vandalism. If we are not satisfied, we will charge you for the cost of 
the repairs.

10.5 Recharges 

The Council or its contractors may, but are not obliged to, carry out any clearing, 
remedial works or repairs as a result of any breach by you of any part of this tenancy 
agreement.  You may be charged the cost of any remedial or clearing works or 
repairs carried out by the Council or contractors.  You may be charged these costs 
after the tenancy ends if the work is done after you have moved out of your property.

Examples of 
repairs that 
are the 
tenant’s 
responsibility 
are set out in 
your Tenants’ 
Handbook.   

You will be 
required to 
pay for repairs, 
or set up a 
payment 
arrangement, 
before the 
repairs are 
completed. 

You or someone acting on your behalf must immediately report any repairs, 
defects or damage to your home which are the Council’s responsibility. You 
must allow the Council to arrange for inspection and/or repair(s) to be carried 
out.

Any reasonable costs or liability incurred by the Council as a result of you 
breaching or failing to perform any part of this tenancy agreement will be 
repayable in full by you upon your receipt of an invoice from the Council.

Work that we will charge includes (but is not limited to):
 repairs that are not the responsibility of the landlord;
 rectifying any work to the property that you have carried out without 

the necessary written permission of the Council or any substandard 
work;

 rectifying damage caused deliberately or by your failure to comply 
with your repairing duties or failure to maintain your own equipment;

 changing the locks of and otherwise securing the property if you 
abandon it;

Page 43



Page 16 of 28

You agree that we can use any money at any time due to you from  the Council as 
your landlord, towards any liability you have to pay charges under this section.

10.6 Gas safety checks

We will apply for an injunction through the courts if you refuse access. If access is 
refused after an injunction is obtained we will ask the court to make a possession 
order.  The court costs can be passed onto you.  

10.7 Electrical inspections

We will apply for an injunction through the courts if you refuse access. If access is 
refused after an injunction is obtained we will ask the court to make a possession 
order.  The court costs can be passed onto you.  

11. Structural changes, alterations, improvements or 
additions
11.1 Your right to make alterations or improvements 

It is your responsibility to obtain the relevant planning, building control or any other 
legal permission prior to starting any work. Improvements, structural alterations and 
additions include (this list is not exhaustive):

 alterations to the gas, electrical and water installations including central 
heating;

 installing security grills on doors and/or windows;
 kitchens and bathrooms alterations;
 internal door alterations ;

Introductory 
tenants do not 
have the right 
to make 
alterations or 
improvements 
to their home, 
but are able to 
decorate. 

If you are a secure tenant, you must not make improvements, additions or 
structural alterations to the property without getting the Council’s written 
permission first.  You must not make any improvements, additions or structural 
alterations to communal areas.

We will annually inspect gas service pipes and gas fired equipment for which 
the Council has a statutory duty to inspect and maintain. You must provide 
access for this and for any repairs that are required.  

We will periodically inspect electrical wiring and installations that the Council 
has a statutory duty to inspect and maintain. You must  provide access for this 
and for any repairs that are required.

 abuse of the emergency out of hours repair service for non-emergency 
repairs;

 clearing the property of belongings or rubbish (including animals);
 replacing missing or broken keys;
 clearing the garden;
 any repairs that are agreed by the landlord and tenant to support the 

sustainment of the tenancy.

Page 44



Page 17 of 28

 installing floor tiles, laminate or wooden flooring (or flooring of a similar 
nature);

 installing security lighting and CCTV;
 installing sheds, other structures, ponds, pools, garden walls or patios;
 removing, replacing or installing fencing;
 installing wood burning stoves;
 adding textured coatings to the internal walls and/or ceilings of your home;
 painting, adding render or other external finish to the exterior of your home.

You must not make any installations or alterations which may be unsafe or 
dangerous to anyone. This includes deep ponds, swimming pools, removing or 
knocking down walls or parts of walls.

We can tell you to return the property to how it was before if you do not have 
permission to make an improvement, addition or structural alteration, or do not 
complete the work to the required standard.  We may do the work and charge you 
for it, or may seek possession of your home.  

11.2 Consultation
We will consult tenants who are likely to be substantially affected by any proposed 
major repairs and/or improvement schemes.

11.3 Rebuilding
We are not required to rebuild or reinstate your home in the case of destruction, 
serious structural damage or deterioration. We will ensure alternative housing is 
provided so long as the destruction, serious structural damage or deterioration is not 
as a result of a tenancy breach. 

12. Criminal and anti-social behaviour

Anti-social behaviour includes a wide range of unacceptable behaviour that affects 
the quality of life for residents and others living or working in the community. The 
types of behaviour that we consider anti-social include:

 Domestic violence and abuse
 Physical violence
 Hate-related incidents (e.g. based on race, sexual orientation, gender, 

disability or belief)
 Verbal abuse, harassment, intimidation or threatening behaviour
 Vandalism and damage to properties
 Prostitution, sexual acts or kerb crawling
 Criminal behaviour
 Misuse of communal areas, public areas or loitering. 

12.1 Our responsibilities

The Council does not tolerate anti-social behaviour and will take  action 
whenever necessary and/or when appropriate.  

Further 
information on 
nuisance and 
harassment is 
available in 
the tenants’ 
handbook. 

In the first instance, we expect you to do all that you can to resolve any issues 
that arise regarding your neighbours.  

Page 45



Page 18 of 28

If a problem persists, we will take appropriate action and involve other agencies, if 
necessary, to bring matters to a conclusion. 
 

We may apply to the court for possession of your home if you or a member of your 
household or visitor:

 is convicted of an indictable offence or a serious offence committed in the 
locality of your property, or 

 is convicted of an indictable offence related to rioting anywhere in England or 
Wales.  

12.2 Your responsibilities 

You must not make malicious or false allegations against another person. If you do, 
this may result in legal action being taken against you.

12.3 Domestic Abuse

You or anyone who lives in your home must not use or threaten to use 
violence or abuse (including physical, psychological, sexual, emotional abuse, 
or restricting financial control), or intimidate any person (including children) 
living with you. 

Please 
contact your 
Housing 
Officer if you 
are 
experiencing 
domestic 
abuse. We 
can support 
you. 

We can address anti-social behaviour and nuisance through a range of legal 
mechanisms including demoting tenancies, fixed penalties, court orders and 
gaining possession of your home. This list is not exhaustive and the Council 
will consider which action is proportionate in all the circumstances.  You are 
expected to engage with mediation services if this is recommended by the 
Council.  

You or any member of your household or visitors must not engage in 
behaviour which causes or is likely to cause a nuisance or annoyance to 
anyone else in the locality.

You or any member of your household or visitors must not carry out or use 
your home or any communal areas or locality for any criminal, immoral, 
unlawful or anti-social  activity.  

You must be considerate of your neighbours and not unreasonably 
interfere with enjoyment of their property.

You and anyone who lives in or visits your property must not do anything 
or anything likely to harass, intimidate, abuse or cause a nuisance, 
annoyance or disturbance to any of the following:

 neighbours
 local residents
 visitors to the area
 employees, agents or contractors of the Council 
 any other person living in, visiting or engaging in a lawful activity.  

This includes within your home, garden, communal areas, and the locality 
of your home. 

Page 46



Page 19 of 28

We may take legal action against you, if anyone living with you or visiting you who 
carries acts of domestic abuse. This could result in us evicting you from your home.

13. Ending your tenancy 
13.1 When the Council plans to end your tenancy 

Introductory tenancies:
The Council will only take steps to recover possession of your home in the following 
circumstances:

a) If you break any of the terms or conditions of this tenancy agreement. (If the 
court grants the Council a possession order this could ultimately result in the 
termination of your tenancy and everyone living in your home being evicted)

b) Where the sole tenant dies and there is no person who is qualified to 
succeed to the tenancy

c) If the property ceases to be your only or principal home or you sub-let the 
whole of the property or you otherwise abandon the property.  In this case, 
the Council may end the tenancy by serving you with a ‘notice to quit’.

Secure tenancies:
The Council will only take steps to recover possession of your home in the following 
circumstances:

a) If you break any of the terms or conditions of this tenancy agreement. (If the 
court grants the Council a possession order this could ultimately result in the 
termination of your tenancy and everyone living in your home being evicted)

b) Where any of the grounds of Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1985, as in force 
from time-to-time, are made out

c) Where the sole tenant dies and there is no person who is qualified to 
succeed to the tenancy

d) If the property ceases to be your only or principal home or you sub-let the 
whole of the property or you otherwise abandon the property. In this case, 
the Council may end the tenancy by serving you with a ‘notice to quit’.

13.2 When you plan to end the tenancy 

The tenancy and notice must end on a Sunday. If you are joint tenants, one tenant 
can end the tenancy by giving the Council notice to quit, whether or not that notice is 
given with or without the consent and knowledge of the other joint tenant. This will 
end the tenancy for all joint tenants regardless of who has given the notice.  You 
cannot withdraw the notice. 

The Council may accept shorter notice or notice ending on a day other than a Sunday, 
but we are not obliged to do so.  Both parties will need to be in agreement if the tenancy is 
a joint tenancy.  

13.3 After notice has been served 
You must allow Council staff access to the property (at a pre-arranged date) for an 
inspection and to conduct viewings for future tenants.  At least 24 hours notice will 
be given.  

You must give the Council at least four weeks written notice if you wish to end 
your tenancy.  

Page 47



Page 20 of 28

If you hand your keys back before the notice date expires:
 you will still be charged rent until the date the notice expires; and
 you hereby give us permission to enter the property during the notice period 

to undertake any inspections work.  

You agree that we may accept the keys from another person where it reasonably 
appears that the other person is returning the keys on your behalf.

 If you leave the property after giving notice and fail to return the keys, we will 
change the   locks and charge the cost to you.

You must not leave anyone else living in the property when you move out. If you 
leave anyone in the property, we will treat them as a trespasser and take legal 
action to evict them. 

13.4 Rent and charges to be paid 

You will be responsible for paying the rent or a sum equivalent to rent until whichever 
of the following dates is the latest:

 the date upon which any notice to terminate expires, or
 the date upon which you leave the property and give back vacant possession 

of the property, or
 in the event of you failing to give written notice or to return the keys, the date 

upon which we take possession.

You must also make regular payments towards any other debts such as 
rechargeable repairs, or arrears and other debts from a former South Holland 
District Council tenancy.  By signing this agreement, you are agreeing to repay this 
debt. If you do not repay the debt, you will be in breach of this agreement and we 
have the right to ask the court to make an order against you for possession of your 
home.  

You must return all keys for the property (including gas and electric meter keys 
where appropriate) to South Holland District Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding by 12 noon on the working day after your notice expires. 

You must pay your rent in full before you leave. If you cannot clear your rent in 
full, you must ensure that you leave a forwarding address and make an 
arrangement to pay the balance.

We will take action to recover outstanding rent or recharges by:
 deducting the debt from any money that we owe you
 issuing you with an invoice for the debt
 sharing your details with a debt collection agency 
 applying for a County Court Judgment.

 

Page 48



Page 21 of 28

13.5 Property condition  

You must repair any damage (however caused) prior to leaving the property. If you 
fail to repair any damage, you must pay the costs incurred by the Council in carrying 
out those repairs. This also includes rectifying any alterations or additions you have 
made without permission or which have not been carried out correctly, or to the 
required legal standard.

We will store any items left in the property, but not rubbish or damaged goods. 
Animals will be removed. We will serve a notice under the provisions of section 41 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, telling you when you 
must collect your possessions. We will give you at least 28 days to do this. We will 
send the notice to your last known address or any forwarding address that you have 
given to us, or in the absence of such an address, may affix it to the property. If the 
items are not collected, we will dispose of them and charge you our reasonable 
costs of disposal and storage.

You must notify utility companies once you have moved out and provide them   with a 
copy of your meter reading at the point you leave or you may incur additional 
charges.

13.6 Additional charges  

You must leave the property in a clean and tidy condition, clear of all personal 
property, furniture and rubbish.  This includes the loft space, garden, garage, 
shed or any other outbuilding or land you are responsible for. You must leave 
the fixtures and fittings and any furnishings we have provided in reasonable, 
clean condition also. 

If you have kept pets, you must ensure the property is free of any flea 
infestation.

Please remember that we will charge you and you agree to pay for any of 
the following at the end of your tenancy:

 rent up until the day your tenancy should have ended (if you do not 
end the tenancy properly)

 the costs to clear rubbish or personal belongings left behind in the 
property or within the boundaries of the property

 the costs to clean the property if left in an unhygienic condition
 the costs involved in repairing damage to the property including 

putting right any alterations made to the property without permission, 
or changing locks

 the legal cost to remove anyone that you leave remaining in the 
property.  

Page 49



Page 22 of 28

14. Succession 

If you are a joint secure tenant or a joint introductory tenant, the tenancy will 
automatically pass to the surviving tenant when you die. 

The spouse (husband/wife), civil partner or cohabiting partner of a sole tenant can 
succeed to the tenancy if they were living in the property (as their only or principal 
home) at the time of death of the tenant.  In the case of introductory tenants, the 
cohabiting partner will have to show that they lived together for atleast 12 months 
before the tenant’s death. 

If there is no spouse, civil partner or cohabiting partner, no one else can succeed to 
a secure tenancy.  

Another family member (as defined by s140 of the Housing Act 1996) may be able 
to succeed to an introductory tenancy, provided that they resided at the property as 
their only or principal home at the time of the tenant’s death, and resided with the 
tenant for at least 12 months before their death.  

We may seek possession of the property where, following succession, the property 
becomes under occupied or the property is occupied by people that do not have a 
need for the property type or adaptations.  In such cases, we will provide suitable 
alternative accommodation in accordance with our allocations policy. 

15. Assignment 

You must gain written permission to assign your tenancy.  Assignments will not be 
granted where the tenant has:

 rent arrears

In all cases, 
your Housing 
Officer will be 
able to offer 
further 
advice. 

As a secure or an introductory tenant, you may be able to assign your 
tenancy to another person. You must get our written permission before doing 
assigning your tenancy (unless the court orders the assignment). 

Tenancies can be assigned in the following ways: 
 by way of a ‘mutual exchange’ 
 by assigning the tenancy to a person that would be able to inherit the 

tenancy by way of succession if you died. (This will count as a 
succession)  

 a court order following a relationship breakdown.  

In all cases, 
your Housing 
Officer will be 
able to offer 
further 
advice. 

Succession is the transfer of your tenancy to someone after you have died.  
The law states that only certain people can succeed to your tenancy and 
certain conditions have to be met.  

There can only be one succession to an introductory or secure tenancy. 
Some assignments count as a succession.  

If you inherited your tenancy from a relative, there is no further right to 
succession.  

Page 50



Page 23 of 28

 the Council has started eviction proceedings against the tenant  
 the property has been adapted for a person with disabilities and there would 

no longer be a person with those disabilities living in the property 
 the tenant is otherwise in substantial breach of the tenancy agreement, for 

example the property is in a poor condition due to damage or neglect by the 
tenant or the tenant’s failure to notify the Council of repairs that are required.

16. Additional rights 
Right to take in a lodger

You must provide us with the name and age of the person before they move in. You 
agree not to allow a person to move in or will ask them to leave, if we notify you that 
they are an unsuitable lodger by way of previous anti-social or criminal activity that 
is known to us.

Right to sub-let

You must not sub-let all of your home. If you sub-let the whole of your home you will 
lose security of tenure, which cannot be regained, and we can evict you by serving a 
Notice to Quit.  

Right to exchange 

We can refuse to consent to an exchange on grounds set out in legislation.  
You and the other tenant must have written permission from each landlord before 
you exchange. 

Right to buy 

Right to improve

Right to manage 

You can take in lodger(s) to share your home with you as long as you do not 
overcrowd the property. 

You can sub-let part of your home but you must get our written permission first. 

You can exchange your home with another tenant of a local authority or 
provider. 

This section 
applies to 
secure 
tenants only.  
Further 
information is 
available in 
the Tenants’ 
Handbook.  

You can buy your home, if you qualify to do so.  Sheltered housing tenants are 
not able to exercise the Right to Buy. 

You can make improvements as long as you get our written permission first. 
We will only refuse permission if we have a good reason for doing so.  

You can set up a Tenant Management Organisation to manage the Council’s 
housing stock. 

Page 51



Page 24 of 28

17. Charging you

If any of the conditions say that we can charge you our costs, we will only charge 
you our reasonable costs, which you agree to pay. We will write to you, letting you 
know the amount of costs in each case. We will also explain why we are asking you 
to pay them.  

If we are aiming to recover our legal costs because of legal action we are taking 
against you, this means that we will ask the court for reasonable costs. The court 
will decide if you should pay the costs and if so, the amount.

18. When you need our written permission 
In this agreement, we have set out when you need our written permission. This 
means that you must request permission first. We will not unreasonably withhold 
permission.  If we give permission, we may set certain conditions that have to be 
met.

19. Tenant Involvement and Consultation  

We will ask your views about any changes to this tenancy agreement (other than 
changes to rent or service charges).  Changes can be made:

We operate a 
complaints 
procedure. 
You can find 
out more at 
www.sholland.
gov.uk. 

The following require written permission:
 making structural changes, alterations, improvements or additions 

to the property 
 installing floor tiles, laminate/wooden flooring or similar 
 running a business from your home
 removing, replacing or planting any fence or tree at the property 
 installing decking, a conservatory, greenhouse, fence, wall, 

garage, shed, patio, animal enclosure, fishpond, pool or other 
structure in your garden

 keeping any pet (other than small caged birds, fish in tanks or 
small caged rodents) in your home 

 fitting a satellite dish or closed-circuit television system in the 
property or within its boundaries

 sub-letting any part of your home
 exchanging or transferring your home
 being away from the property for more than four weeks
 keeping more than three motor vehicles at your property 
 parking any trailer, caravan, large van, lorry or boat within the 

boundary of your property 
 applying for a firearms license.  

We will consult you about important changes that are likely to affect you. We 
will take your comments into account before we make any decision.

We will not make any charges if the court or the law says that we cannot do so.

Permission 
must be given 
in writing to 
be valid. 

Page 52



Page 25 of 28

 by written agreement between you and the Council. We do not require your 
agreement to make changes to rent or charges; or 

 in accordance with the law including service of a preliminary notice giving 
you details of any intended changes and inviting your comments.  Following 
consideration of your comments, a final notice will be served detailing the 
changes and the date they take effect.  

20. Service of notice
Under Section 48(1) of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987, the Council notifies you 
that its address for service is:

South Holland District Council
Priory Road
Spalding
Lincs, PE11 2XE 

Any Notice required by law  to be served on the Tenant or Occupier shall be validly 
served if it is: 

a) left at the property or affixed to a prominent part of it;
b) personally handed to the tenant or anyone at the property;
c) posted to the property; or
d) posted to any other last known address.

The Council can choose which method of service to use.

21. How we use your information 

In order to provide you with the service you need, we have to collect, store and use 
your personal information. We will hold information about you such as your name, 
address and contact details. We may also hold financial, household and sensitive 
personal information relating to your health, special needs or alleged or actual 
criminal offences, if relevant.  Information will be accurate, where necessary kept up 
to date and will be kept for no longer than necessary, in line with our retention policy.

22. Contact us 
You can contact us in the following ways:

 Telephone: 01775 761161 and ask to speak to your Housing Officer 
 Email: info@sholland.gov.uk 
 Visit us: Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE  

23. Definitions
This section explains what some of the words and expressions in this document 
mean.

Anti-social behaviour
Anti-social behaviour is any act, or failure to do something, which causes, or is likely 
to cause nuisance, harassment, alarm or distress or which interferes with the rights, 
peace, comfort or convenience of other people living in, working in or visiting the 
local area. 

Our data 
protection 
policy provides 
more 
information 
about how we 
handle your 
personal data.  
A copy of this 
policy is 
available at 
www.sholland.
gov.uk

South Holland District Council processes personal data in compliance with the 
General Data Protection Regulations and the Data Protection Act.  

Page 53



Page 26 of 28

Assign/Assignment
A method of transferring your tenancy to someone else, including by way of mutual 
exchange with another tenant. 

Boundary
This is an enclosed area or the edge of the land around your home that is part of 
your tenancy.

Council 
This means South Holland District Council including officers of the Council and 
agents or contractors acting on the Council’s behalf. 

Communal areas
These are parts of the building which all tenants have the right to use in connection 
with their property, for example, halls, stairways, entrances, landings, shared 
gardens, lawns and landscaped areas, bin areas, drying areas and so on.

Covenant
An order that affects or limits the use of a piece of land. An example would be a 
requirement to not store caravans or commercial vans at the property. 

Demoted tenancy
A demoted tenancy replaces a secure tenancy after the court has made an order as 
a result of anti-social behaviour. As a demoted tenant you lose certain rights, 
including the right to buy and the right to exchange.

Fixtures and fittings
These items include kitchen units, bathrooms and sanitary ware (sinks, toilets, 
basins and so on), plumbing systems, electrical circuits, sockets, switches, lamp 
holders, doors and locks, and glass in windows and doors.

Garden
This means lawns, hedges, flowerbeds, trees, shrubs, outside walls, fences, paths 
and any piece of land belonging only to the property and forming part of your 
tenancy.

Home/the property 
This means the property let to you including any fixtures and fittings and the garden. 

Household
You, your family and any other people living in your home including any adult family 
members, other adults, children under 18 years old, lodgers, sub- tenants and 
visitors to your home.

Housing Officer
Person(s) employed by South Holland District Council to administer these tenancy 
conditions. 

Indictable Offence
Any criminal offence which is capable of being tried in the Crown Court. 

Introductory Tenancy
An introductory tenancy is a periodic weekly tenancy granted under the Housing Act 
1996. An introductory tenant is a tenant under an introductory tenancy, and the 
introductory period is the duration of the introductory tenancy.

Page 54



Page 27 of 28

Lodger
A person that lives in your home but does not have exclusive rights to any part of it.

Motor Vehicle/vehicle 
This includes cars, motor bikes/scooters and vans weighing less than 1500kg 
(unladen).  It does not include trailers, caravans, goods vehicles of more than 1500 
kg (unladen weight) or boats.
 
Neighbours
Your neighbours include everyone living in the local area, including people who own 
their own homes, tenants of other landlords and their families and visitors.

Neighbourhood or Locality
The local area where you live, for example Spalding. The area will include property 
which is privately owned or rented and property which is owned or managed by the 
Council or housing associations and may include local shops and facilities for 
example schools, leisure centres and open spaces.

Notices
A formal notice is in writing (which could be in the form of a letter) from us to you or 
from you to us. For example, a Notice of Seeking Possession, ending a secure 
tenancy or applying for the right to buy.

Personal information
This means any information we may hold about you (and other people who live in 
the property). If you have any queries about how we collect or use your personal 
information you should write to us.

Personal property 
All personal items which belong to you or a member of your household including 
curtains, furniture and floor coverings such as carpet.

Possession
This means the right to live in your home.

Possession order
An order the court makes that gives possession of your home back to us.

Secure tenancy 
In the context of this tenancy agreement this means a secure periodic weekly 
tenancy granted under the Housing Act 1985.  

Serious offence
An offence listed in Schedule 2A Housing Act 1985.

Sheltered housing 
Accommodation for people aged 55 and over, and people that would benefit from 
the communal environment provided.  Community facilities are provided as well as 
an alarm monitoring system for the tenant’s wellbeing. 

Sublet  
To give another person the right to live in your home.  You are not allowed to sub-let 
all of your property. 

Page 55



Page 28 of 28

Structural changes/alterations/improvements/additions 
This is anything you want to do which would change the layout or the features of 
your home including changes to fittings such as in the kitchen or bathroom. It is very 
important that you do not remove any walls.

Succession
Passing on the tenancy to someone who has the right to it by law, after the first 
tenant has died. If you take over the property and it is too large for your needs, we 
may ask you to move to a smaller home. If you don't agree to move, we will get a 
court order.

Tenants’ handbook 
This contains useful information for tenants and should be read in conjunction with 
this agreement. 

They 
This means anyone else living in or visiting your home. 

Us or We 
This means South Holland District Council.  

Visitor
Any person who does not live with you but who has come to see you at your home, 
is staying with you, is visiting your neighbours, or is passing through or staying in the 
local area.

Written permission 
This is confirmation in writing from the Council giving you permission to do 
something.  Any permission will not be unreasonably withheld, but may be given 
subject to reasonable conditions and may be withdrawn if those conditions are not 
met.  Permission must be given in writing to be valid permission. 

You 
This means the tenant, and if you are joint tenants, any one or all of the joint 
tenants.  

Page 56



APPENDIX 2

Tenancy Agreement Review 2019: Summary of proposed changes

Please find below the new and updated clauses of the proposed variation to the Tenancy 
Agreement. 

This document should be read in conjunction with the draft Tenancy Agreement and 
Preliminary Notice that you have received with this document. 

Section Subject Effect
1.1 Welcome New – welcome paragraph briefly setting out rights and 

responsibilities of tenants and us as your landlord 
1.2 Your 

agreement  
A new version of the Tenant’s Handbook has been produced.  
This contains useful information about the standards tenants 
can expect from the council and practical advice for tenants.  
The Handbook will be available on the Council’s website and 
in hard format on request.

1.3 Introductory 
tenancies 

Introductory tenancies have been issued to new tenants since 
2011. This features in the current tenancy agreement. 

1.4 Secure 
tenancies

This features in the current tenancy agreement. 

2.1 Rent in 
advance due 
before tenancy 
starts 

NEW Tenants are required to pay 4 weeks rent in advance 
before the tenancy starts.  Where a new tenant genuinely 
cannot afford to pay rent in advance then their case will be 
examined on a case by case basis. 

2.2 Paying your 
rent 

Your rent must be paid at least one week in advance.  The 
previous tenancy agreement stated rent was due in advance.  
The legal rules around collection of rent from joint tenants 
features in the current tenancy agreement.
NEW It is your responsibility to claim relevant benefits and to 
update the providers of any change in your circumstances 

2.3 Service 
charges

This features in the current tenancy agreement. 
We have the right to change any of the services we provide 
and the charges we make for these services. We can change 
the services at any time, but will consult with you.
NEW Sheltered Housing residents currently pay a service 
charge but this is not set out as a separate item in the current 
agreement.
NEW Failure to engage with the service we offer/to pay for the 
services will be considered a breach of tenancy. 
Failure to pay service charges features in the existing tenancy 
agreement.  

2.4 Changes to 
the rent

This features in the current tenancy agreement. 
We may change your rent at any time. We will give you at 
least four weeks' notice in writing if we change the rent.

2.5 Difficulty 
paying your 
rent 

NEW The Council has legal grounds to apply for possession 
of a property where tenants repeatedly make late payment of 
rent, however this was not specifically stated in the tenancy 
agreement.  
NEW The Council reserves the right to deduct money for 
rent/arrears/Court Costs from any money owed to you.  

2.6 Utilities NEW reference to your responsibility to arrange and pay for 
utilities 

3.1 Your only This features in the current tenancy agreement.  (This is a 

Page 57



home legal requirement).  The council will undertake periodic visits 
to the properties it rents to tenants. 
NEW You must move into your new home immediately 
following the tenancy starting

3.2 Joint tenants This features in the current tenancy agreement. 
3.3 Being away 

from your 
home

NEW The current tenancy agreement requires you to inform 
us if you are going to be away from the property for more than 
28 days.  Tenants will also be required to provide contact 
details of a key holder.  

3.4 Abandonment This features in the current tenancy agreement, but has been 
expanded.   
We will end a tenancy where we believe the tenant is no 
longer living in the property.  Thorough checks are completed 
to confirm this is the case.  
Belongings remaining in the property will be stored for a 
period of time as per the Local Government Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act 1982. 
(This is standard practice).

3.5 Overcrowding NEW This features in the existing tenancy agreement and is 
defined as per s324 of the Housing Act 1985.  The definition 
for overcrowding has been amended for this agreement to 
reflect the same standards that the Council follows when 
letting a property. This does not apply to overcrowding arising 
from the natural growth of the family, for example the birth of a 
child.  

3.6 Running a 
business from 
home

This features in the current tenancy agreement. 
Tenants can, with the council’s written permission, run a 
business from their council property. The Council will revoke 
permission for running a business if it causes a nuisance.   

3.7 Personal 
property and 
insurance 

This features in the current tenancy agreement. The Council 
strongly recommends that you have insurance for your 
personal belongings.  

3.8 Support 
providers

NEW You must co-operate with support providers when the 
Council feels they are necessary 

3.9 Covenants NEW tenants will be required to keep to rules affecting the 
land where necessary 

4.1 Bonfires NEW Bonfires are not allowed.  
4.2 Flammable 

material
This features in the existing tenancy agreement.  
Flammable materials should not be kept in excessive 
quantities, only be for legitimate domestic use, should be 
stored appropriately and not in communal areas.  

4.3 Gas and 
electricity 
safety

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  

4.4 Smoke and 
carbon 
monoxide 
detectors

NEW You are responsible for maintaining any battery-
operated smoke or carbon monoxide detector(s) and ensuring 
it is always in good working order. You must not tamper with or 
damage any smoke or carbon monoxide detector in the 
property.

4.5 Emergency 
services 
access 

NEW You or any member of your household or visitors must 
not obstruct access to emergency service vehicles in any way. 
Your vehicle may be removed if it is blocking such access.

5.1 Smoking in 
enclosed 

NEW You or any member of your household or visitors must 
not smoke or use e- cigarettes in communal areas of the 

Page 58



communal 
areas

building.

5.2 Rubbish This features in your existing tenancy agreement. Rubbish 
must be disposed of correctly and not left in communal areas.  

5.3 Storage of 
items

NEW You or any member of your household or visitors must 
not store items in any communal areas such as hallways and 
landings. This includes personal belongings (such as bicycles, 
mobility scooters and push chairs), rubbish or dangerous 
items.  

5.4 Lifts NEW Lifts must not be blocked or interfered with. 
Unacceptable behaviour such as urinating and graffiti is not 
permitted in lifts and will be treated as criminal damage. 

5.5 Exterior of 
buildings 

NEW You must not fix any item to outside walls or brickwork, 
or from place window boxes or plants to external window sills 
of communal properties as this may damage the property. 

6 Access to your 
home 

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  
You must allow access to the Council (including Council 
employees, contractors, agents or other statutory bodies) to 
enter the property in the following circumstances: 

 where the Council is otherwise legally required to allow 
access to the property by a third party

 electrical and gas safety checks
  periodic (annual) home visit.   

6.1 Emergency 
access 

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
We will attempt to contact you in an emergency.  If we are not 
able to contact you, we enter the property.  Examples of what 
may be classed as an emergency are given, including 
suspected fire, burst water pipe, sewage leak, gas leak or 
electrical fault or where there are welfare concerns.

7 Looking after 
your garden

This features in your existing tenancy agreement but has been 
expanded to include requirement for permission for certain 
alterations. 
Gardens must be cultivated and free of rubbish and animal 
waste / faeces. Trees and shrubs must not be allowed to 
become overgrown.  You must ensure that trees, hedges or 
bushes do not cause damage, nuisance or obstruction.  
The council may charge the tenant in advance for clearing 
their garden if there is no good reason why the tenant is 
unable to clear it themselves.  Overgrown gardens may be 
considered a ‘nuisance’ and legal action taken.  

8 Keeping 
animals and 
pets 

NEW requests for pets (other than 2 small caged birds, 1 fish 
tank or 1 small caged rodent) must be made in writing.  
Permission will be granted subject to certain requirements 
such as microchipping and neutering. 
Existing tenants will continue to be allowed 2 dogs and 3 cats 
whilst they remain in the same property.  
Animals must not cause a nuisance. 

9 Vehicles and 
parking 

This section features in the existing tenancy agreement but 
has been expanded. 
Caravans, campervans, motor homes, large vans, lorries, food 
trucks, trailers or boats must not be parked without the 
Council’s permission.  
Tenants must not drive across a kerb to access the property 
unless it has been lowered with permission.  

Page 59



Major repairs and storage of scrap car parts is not permitted. 
10.1 Condition of 

your home - 
your 
responsibilities

This features in the existing tenancy agreement with the 
following additions:

 NEW reference to hoarding. Personal property not to 
prevent access, pose an environmental health/health 
and safety risk, or to cause a nuisance.  

 You must not store items in the loft 
 NEW You must request permission to install floor 

tiles/laminate flooring. (This is due to the sound 
travelling through hard flooring.)

 You must keep all grates, grids, drains and gullies 
clean and clear (except gutters that catch water from 
the roof). 

10.2 Repairs – the 
Council’s 
responsibilities 

This features in your existing tenancy agreement, but has 
been expanded to include details of repairs that fall to the 
Council. 

10.3 Moving out 
temporarily 

NEW You may be required to move out of your property 
temporarily if we cannot complete repairs whilst you are 
resident. 

10.4 Repairs - your 
responsibilities

This features in your existing tenancy agreement. Examples of 
tenants responsibilities will be included in the Tenants 
Handbook along with the costs for the Council repairing them 
on your behalf. 

10.5 Recharges This features in your existing tenancy agreement but has been 
expanded.  This section covers any reasonable costs or 
liability incurred by the Council as a result of you breaching or 
failing to perform any part of this tenancy agreement and can 
be deducted from any money that the Council owes you.  You 
may have to pay for the repairs before the work is carried out. 

10.6 Gas safety 
checks

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  You must 
allow access to the property for an annual gas safety 
inspection. (This is a legal requirement). 

10.7 Electrical 
inspections

NEW you must provide access for periodical
Inspections of electrical wiring and installations. (This is a 
legal requirement) 

11.1 Your right to 
make 
alterations or 
improvements

This features in your existing tenancy agreement. Alterations 
must not be made without written permission.  Alterations 
made without permission will have to be put right at a cost to 
the tenant.  

11.2 Consultation NEW We will consult tenants who are likely to be substantially 
affected by any proposed major repairs and/or improvement 
schemes.

11.3 Rebuilding NEW We are not required to rebuild or reinstate your home in 
the case of destruction, serious structural damage or 
deterioration.

12 Criminal, 
nuisance and 
anti-social 
behaviour

This features in your existing tenancy agreement, but has 
been amended to reflect new legislation.  
The Antisocial Behaviour and Policing Act 2014 gives the 
Council the power to evict tenants who have committed 
certain types of serious crimes or anti-social behaviour. The 
Council already has this power, however it is included in the 
Tenancy Agreement to make this clear. 

12.1 Our 
responsibilities

NEW This sets out how we will manage complaints of anti-
social behaviour/nuisance 

Page 60



12.2 Your 
responsibilities

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  

12.3 Domestic 
abuse

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  

13.1 When the 
council plans 
to end your 
tenancy 

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  

13.2 When you plan 
to end your 
tenancy

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  
NEW Tenants cannot revoke notice (this is stated in 
legislation).  

13.3 After notice 
has been 
served 

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  
NEW if you hand your keys back before notice expires, you 
give us permission to enter the property to carry out 
inspections and repairs work. 

13.4 Rent and 
charges to be 
paid 

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  
NEW We will take formal action to recover outstanding rent or 
recharges.  
NEW You will be required to set up a payment arrangement to 
repay any outstanding housing related debt if you take up 
another Council tenancy 

13.5 Property 
condition

This features in your existing tenancy agreement. 
NEW You must notify utility companies when you move out 
and provide them with a copy of your meter readings.
NEW You must remove all floor coverings, unless advised 
otherwise 
NEW If you have kept pets, you must ensure that the property 
is free of any flea infestation. 

13.6 Additional 
charges 

This features in the existing tenancy agreement. This lists 
what costs will be recharged to you if you do not leave the 
property in a suitable condition. 

14 Succession NEW This section has been updated to reflect the legal 
position under the Localism Act 2011. This may change with 
the implementation of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
(which is yet to be implemented by the Government).  

15 Assignment NEW This section has been updated to reflect the legal 
position under the Localism Act 2011. This may change with 
the implementation of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
(which is yet to be implemented by the Government).  

16 Additional 
rights (secure 
tenants only)

This features in the current tenancy agreement. These include 
the Right to Buy, Right to Exchange, Right to Improve, Right 
to Manage, Right to Sub-Let and the Right to take in a lodger. 

17 Charging you This features in your existing tenancy agreement but has been 
expanded.  We will not make any charges if the court or the 
law says that we cannot do so. 

18 When you 
need our 
permission

NEW This summarises points in the tenancy that state that 
permission is needed 

19 Tenant 
involvement 
and 
consultation 

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.  We will 
consult you about important changes that are likely to affect 
you. We will take your comments into account before we 
make any decision.

20 Service of 
notice 

This features in your existing tenancy agreement and is a 
legal requirement. 

Page 61



21 How we use 
your 
information 

This features in your existing tenancy agreement and has 
been updated to reflect changes in data protection legislation.  

22 Contact us NEW This explains the ways to contact us. 
Definitions Lists the terms used in the Agreement to explain their legal 

meaning 

Page 62



Miss xxx

Dear 

Preliminary Notice of Variation to your Tenancy Agreement (Housing Act 1985 
Section 103 (2))  

We are proposing to make changes to your tenancy conditions and would like your 
comments on these changes.  This letter is the formal notice to you.

The law states that we must tell all South Holland District Council tenants about the 
changes and give you the opportunity to comment on the proposals. We will consider all 
comments received before finalising any changes to the Tenancy Agreement.  

Please note that we are not proposing to end your tenancy. We are only changing the terms 
of your existing tenancy agreement. You will not be asked to sign a new tenancy 
agreement, but these changes will still apply to you from the date that the new tenancy 
terms are introduced. 

Have your say 
We have enclosed a summary of the changes, a copy of the new proposed tenancy 
agreement and a fact sheet on Frequently Asked Questions.  

You are invited to make any comments you may have on the proposed changes by DATE. 
Please complete the online survey at WEBSITE ADDRESS.  If you do not have internet 
access, please contact us on 01775 761161 or email us at 
tenancy.agreement.review@sholland.gov.uk for a response form.  Sheltered Housing 
residents can also discuss the proposals with their Housing Officer at the Meet and Greet 
sessions. 

We are currently reviewing the Tenants’ Handbook.  If you would like to be involved with 
this review, please email tenancy.agreement.review@sholland.gov.uk or speak to your 
Housing Officer on 01775 761161. 

What happens next? 
We will consider all comments we receive. After this, we will serve you with a formal Notice 
of Variation (under section 103 of the Housing Act 1985). This will include a copy of the new 
tenancy agreement and will tell you the date that the changes will become effective. 

Contact details update
It is important that we have your up to date contact details.  Please submit these online at 
WEBSITE LINK or contact your Housing officer on 01775 761161.   

Yours sincerely 

Council Offices
Priory Road
Spalding
Lincolnshire PE11 2XE

tel: 01775 761161
fax: 01775 711253
www.sholland.gov.uk

Council Offices
Priory Road
Spalding
Lincolnshire PE11 2XE

tel: 01775 761161
fax: 01775 723496
www.sholland.gov.uk

APPENDIX 3
date: DATE 

ask for: Housing Services Team 

email:  INSERT@sholland.gov.uk

Page 63



Vikki Cherry 
Housing Services Manager

Page 64



APPENDIX 4
Frequently Asked Questions about the review of the Tenancy Agreement

 
Why are you reviewing the tenancy agreement? 
The Tenancy Agreement was last reviewed in 2011. We need to update it: 

• To take into account new legislation such as the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014, Localism Act 2011 and the General Data Protection Regulation 
2018.  

• To reflect up-to-date policy and practices 
• To make it easier for tenants to understand their rights and responsibilities 

Is it just me that’s received a letter? 
No, we have written to all council tenants. 

Who are you consulting with? 
We are consulting with all South Holland District Council Introductory and Secure tenants. 

How long does the consultation run for? 
The consultation will run until DATE. Any comments arriving after this date will not be 
considered. 

What documents should I receive? 
You will receive a Preliminary Notice (letter), a summary of changes and a copy of the 
proposed Tenancy Agreement to comment on. 

Why have you served a Notice? 
Under Housing Act 1985 we need to serve a Preliminary Notice outlining the changes being 
proposed for tenants to respond to. 

Is it an eviction notice? 
No, we have sent a Preliminary Notice to advise you of proposed changes to the Tenancy 
Agreement. 

I’ve just signed up for a new tenancy, does this affect me? 
Yes, all tenants are affected by the proposed changes.   

I’ve just completed a mutual exchange, does this affect me?
Yes, all tenants are affected by the proposed changes.   

My details on the letter is wrong, what do I do? 
Let us know the correct details and we will update our records. We may need supporting 
evidence to make the changes. 

I need the information in a different format 
Let us know what format you require and we will aim to assist. 

How do I respond to the consultation? 
A dedicated email address has been set up for responses: 
tenancy.agreement.review@sholland.gov.uk 
You can also telephone or write in with your response. Details are on the Preliminary 
Notice. 

What’s the Tenant Handbook? 
The Tenant Handbook is a booklet given to new tenants that includes useful information 
about managing their tenancy. This is currently being reviewed.  Please let us know if you 
would like to be involved in this process. 

Page 65



 
I don’t understand the proposals 
The changes being proposed to your existing tenancy are listed in the ‘summary of 
changes’ document. We have also sent a full copy of the draft Tenancy Agreement which 
incorporates all the proposals and includes a ‘Definitions’ section which explains some of 
the terms used. 

I’ve been a tenant for years, so why does the Tenancy Agreement say welcome to 
your new tenancy? 
The introduction to the tenancy agreement welcomes new tenants who are signing up to be 
a tenant for the first time, but the final version of the agreement will be issued to all tenants. 

How will my views be taken into account? 
All responses received during the consultation will be logged and your comments will be 
taken into account when the final agreement is drawn up. 

What if I don’t agree with the proposed changes? 
This is your opportunity to have your say. You can respond to the consultation and your 
comments will be taken into account when the final agreement is drawn up. 

When will I receive the new Tenancy Agreement? 
We expect to be issuing new agreements in May 2019, but this may change. We will write 
to you again with a copy of the final Tenancy Agreement at least 4 weeks before it comes 
into effect. 

Do I need to sign a copy of the new Tenancy Agreement? 
No, once the revised Tenancy Agreement takes effect, it will become your new Tenancy 
Agreement. You will not need to sign a new agreement with us. 

Will the review change my security of tenure? 
No, the Tenancy Agreement review will NOT introduce fixed term tenancies or remove your 
rights to your periodic tenancy (commonly known as ‘lifetime tenancies’). 

I want to raise an issue about my tenancy, what do I do? 
If your query relates to a general tenancy issue, such as reporting a repair, please report it 
in the usual way. 

I have a question that is not covered here 
Please contact us with your question and we will try to answer it. You can email us at 
tenancy.agreement.review@sholland.gov.uk.   You can also telephone or write in. Details 
are on the Preliminary Notice. 

Page 66



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Robert Walker, Executive Director - Place

To: Policy Development Panel, 15 January 2019

Author: Sarah Shipley, Food, Health and Safety Manager

Subject Corporate Enforcement Policy Update

Purpose: To provide members with an update on enforcement activity since the 
introduction of the new Corporate Enforcement Policy

Recommendation: 

1) That the content of the report be noted

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council is responsible for enforcing a wide range of legislation, with powers of 
enforcement usually delegated to individual officers in the various service areas concerned.  
The decision to take (or not take) enforcement action is a serious one that may have 
implications for all involved and it is therefore important that there is a policy in place that 
ensures fairness, openness, and consistency.

1.2 Enforcement action can take different forms including:
 Inspecting premises, processes, equipment or food;
 Investigating complaints about individuals and business; 
 Providing advice about how to comply with the law;
 Taking action at Licensing Panels or undertaking Licensing Reviews;
 Issuing fixed penalty notices, statutory notices or taking prosecutions.

1.3 All departments dealing with enforcement do so in line with the Corporate Enforcement 
Policy approved on 29th May 2018 at Cabinet, ensuring they take enforcement action when 
proportionate and necessary to do so. All services have a tiered approach to enforcement; 
starting with compliance or warnings and progressing to other enforcement activity where 
proportionate and appropriate. Compliance advice, guidance and support is included as a 
stage of enforcement – this advice is sometimes in the form of a warning letter or informal 
caution. Statutory notices – including Prohibition Notices, Community Protection Notices 
and Improvement Notices are issued when there are breaches and they are legally binding.
Failure to comply with these can be a criminal offence and may lead to prosecution.
Prosecution will only be considered where the Council is satisfied that it has sufficient
evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction against the defendant(s).

  

Page 67

Agenda Item 10.



1.4. The policy creates one single, joint Corporate Enforcement Policy and brings it in-line with 
current requirements. The Policy starts from the premise that most businesses and 
individuals want to comply with the law. Help and support will be provided to enable them to 
meet their legal obligations without unnecessary expenses, while firm action will be taken 
against those who flout the law or act irresponsibly. It seeks to assist officers in the decision 
making process, to ensure a consistent approach when using the range of enforcement 
tools available to them.

1.5 The tables below show the enforcement activity by service area prior to the introduction of 
the new policy and since the introduction of the policy.

1.6 Enforcement figures prior to introduction of the policy (January – May 2018)

*Additional Licensing data - none

Service No. 
informal 
notices/
warning 
letters

No 
voluntary 
undertaki
ngs

No 
Statutory 
notices

No 
financial 
penalties

No 
Injunctiv
e 
Actions, 
Enforce
ment 
Orders 
etc

No of 
Simple 
Cautio
ns

No 
Pros
ecut
ions

Environmental 
Protection

170 0 0 0 0 0 0

Licensing* 6 0 0 0 0 0 0

Food, Health 
and Safety

128 0 4 0 0 0 1

Environmental 
Services

69 0 0 2 0 0 1

Communities 75 4 2 0 1 0 0
Planning 0 0 2 0 0 0 0
Housing 0 0 2 0 0 0 1
Building 
Control

5 133 0 0 0 0 0

Page 68



1.7 Enforcement figures since the introduction of the policy (June – 31 December 2018)

*Additional licensing data - There were 4 premises licences suspended and 1 revoked 
under the Licensing Act 2003. There was also 1 application to transfer a premises licence 
and vary a Designated Premises Supervisor which was refused. There was 1 immediate 
revocation of a taxi/private hire driver’s licence

Service No. 
informal 
notices/
warning 
letters

No 
voluntary 
undertaki
ngs

No 
Statutory 
notices

No 
financial 
penalties

No 
Injunctiv
e 
Actions, 
Enforce
ment 
Orders 
etc

No of 
Simple 
Cautio
ns

No 
Pros
ecut
ions

Environmental 
Protection

348 0 0 0 0 0 0

Licensing* 2 0 0 0 0 0 0
Food, Health 
and Safety

133 0 3 0 0 0 0

Environmental 
Services

55 0 0 7 0 0 3

Communities 158 0 5 68 0 0 2
Planning 0 0 14 0 0 0 0
Housing 0 0 3 0 0 0 1
Building 
Control

8 274 0 0 0 0 0

1.8 The tables illustrate that the bulk of enforcement carried out by the Council is dealt with 
informally. Whilst prosecutions have increased in number over the second part of the year 
the number of prosecutions and more formal action is less comparatively. This is in line with 
the Enforcement Policy which states that best efforts should be taken to resolve any issues 
without taking formal action or referring the matter to the courts where minor offences have 
been committed and the Council is confident that appropriate corrective action will be 
taken. However where a business or individual is showing a flagrant disregard for the law 
and it is deemed that an informal approach is not appropriate more formal methods have 
been pursued.

1.9 The number of informal notices and warning letters issued across the various service areas 
has increased in the second part of the year. The number of fixed penalty notices have also 
increased over this period. This is in part due to the appointment of two Community 
Wardens in mid-June who have issued 80 warning letters and 67 fixed penalty notices.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing.
2.2 Note the contents of the report and provide Members with a further update if required.

Page 69



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
3.1  It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted and that members of the

Policy Development Panel have an up to date understanding of the enforcement that
is taking place across the district.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The report will give an overview of the Council’s enforcement activities.
4.2 It will give assurances that enforcement action is being taken appropriately and that

resident and community concerns are being addressed.

5 IMPLICATIONS
5.1  In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
5.2.1 This report has no carbon footprint or environmental implications

5.3 Constitutional & Legal
5.3.1  There are many pieces of legislation that span across Planning, Building Control, Housing,

Environmental, Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Disorder and Public Protection functions.
The most appropriate tool or power will be used for each case to resolve the issue.

5.4 Contracts
5.4.1 This report does not give rise to any contract implications.

5.5 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1 The proposals support the following Council priorities:

 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while 
protecting the most vulnerable;

 To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop 
and thrive;

 To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way;
 To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth.

5.6 Crime and Disorder
5.6.1 This report supports regulatory work undertaken by the Council.

5.7 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.7.1 This report does not give rise to any direct equality and diversity, or human rights 

implications. However it should be noted that surveillance techniques and investigations 
need to consider Article 8 of the Human Rights Act which covers right to privacy.

Page 70



5.8 Financial
5.8.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. However, some 

enforcement action can result in financial penalties alongside proportionate legal costs.

5.9 Health & Wellbeing
5.9.1 Regulatory work undertaken by the Council promotes health & wellbeing of residents, 

visitors and workers.

5.10 Reputation
5.10.1 It is important that the council demonstrates its commitment to taking appropriate and

proportionate enforcement action and that it effectively deals with local concerns.

5.11 Risk Management
5.10.1 The Corporate Enforcement Policy should be followed by staff while undertaking regulatory 

activities this should reduce the risk of the Council being open to legal challenge or judicial 
review if decisions are made based on incorrect procedure.

5.12 Safeguarding
5.12.1 This report does not give rise to any safeguarding implications

5.13 Staffing
5.13.1 This report does not give rise to any staffing implications.

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.2 All Wards and communities within South Holland

7 ACRONYMS

7.2 All acronyms are clarified within the body of the report.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sarah Shipley, Food Health and Safety Manager
Telephone Number 07814 786738
Email: sarah.shipley@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: Corporate Enforcement Policy

Page 71



Page 72



 1 

 

 
 
 

Corporate Enforcement 
Policy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: Final Version 
Authorised by: 
Breckland Cabinet 1/5/18.  
South Holland Cabinet 29/5/18 

Appendix A

Page 73



 2 

Table of Contents                                        Page 
Section 1. Introduction                3 
 
Section 2. Purpose of the Policy        5 
 
Section 3. When this policy applies       5 
3.1 Scope of the Policy        5 
 
Section 4. Non-Compliance        6 
4.1 Approach to dealing with non-compliance      6 
4.2 How action taken is determined       7 
4.3 Factors that influence our response to breaches     7 
4.4 Approach to complaints of non-compliance      8 
 
Section 5. Conduct of Investigations       8 
5.1 Powers of authorised officers        8 
5.2 Progress of investigations        9 
 
Section 6. Decisions on Enforcement Action      9 
6.1 The range of actions available as set out in legislation    9 
6.2 Explanation of how decisions are made on enforcement action   12 
6.3 Explanation of how decisions are communicated to those affected  13 
 
Section 7. Review of this Policy        13 
7.1 Details of when and how the policy will be reviewed    13 
 
Section 8. Comments and Complaints       13 
8.1 Details of processes for complaints and appeals     13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 74



 3 

Corporate Enforcement Policy 
 
1. Introduction 
The Council carries out a wide range of regulatory roles in meeting its many 
statutory duties of protecting the public, individuals and the environment. 
These duties are met by carrying out a range of activities, including carrying 
out programmed inspections of premises, responding to complaints, issuing 
licences and offering advice. This Policy outlines the approach it takes when 
considering enforcement action.  
 
This policy is an overarching policy that applies to all the Council’s Services 
with enforcement duties, although it should be noted that some services also 
have more specific enforcement requirements, as defined by specific 
legislative guidance and regulations. 
 
The appropriate use of the full range of enforcement powers, including 
prosecution, is important, both to secure compliance with the law and to 
ensure that those who have duties under it are held to account for failures to 
safeguard health, safety, welfare and environment or breach of regulations 
enforced by the Council. 
 
In deciding on the most appropriate course of action officers should have 
regard to the principles set out in this policy and the need to maintain a 
balance between enforcement and other activities, including inspection, 
advice and education. 
 
a) Principles of Good Regulation 
Regulatory activities undertaken by the Council will be exercised in a way that 
are: 
 

i. Proportionate – activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and 
enforcement action taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence; 

 
ii. Accountable – activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and 

accessible policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures; 
 

iii. Consistent – advice given to those regulated will be robust and reliable 
and officers will respect advice provided by other regulators. The Council 
shall seek to ensure consistency of enforcement; however the Council 
realises that consistency is not a simple matter of uniformity. Officers will 
need to exercise their professional judgement and discretion according to 
the circumstances of each individual case and the relevant responsibilities 
and intervention systems maintained by the Council; 

 
iv. Transparent – Officers will ensure that those they regulate are able to 

understand what is expected of them and what they can anticipate in 
return, and 

 
v. Targeted – Resources will be focused on higher risk enterprises and 

activities, reflecting local need and national priorities and where the 

Page 75



 4 

Council believes its efforts are able to have an impact. 
 
b) Regulators’ Code 
The Council has had regard to the Regulators’ Code in the preparation of this 
policy. In certain instances it may conclude that a provision in the Code is 
either not relevant or is outweighed by another provision. Where statutory 
guidance and legislation specifies the action to be taken this legislation takes 
precedence. 
 
c) Human Rights Act 1998 
The Council is a public authority for the purposes of the Human Rights Act 
1998. It therefore applies the principles of the European Convention for the 
Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. This Policy and all 
associated enforcement decisions take account of the provisions of the 
Human Rights Act 1998. In particular, due regard is had to the right to a fair 
trial and the right to respect for private and family life, home and 
correspondence. 
 
d) General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018 
Officers will comply with all relevant data protection laws and any associated 
statutes, regulations and guidance. 
 
e) The Code for Crown Prosecutors 
When deciding whether to institute criminal proceedings the Council has 
regard to the provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the 
Director of Public Prosecutions. 
 
The Code for Crown Prosecutors is a public document that sets out the 
general principles to follow when decisions are made in respect of prosecuting 
cases. The Code sets out two tests that must be satisfied commonly referred 
to as the ‘Evidential Test’ and the ‘Public Interest Test’: 
 

(i) Evidential Test - is there enough evidence against the defendant? 
When deciding whether there is enough evidence to prosecute, the 
Council will consider what evidence can be used in court and is 
reliable. It must be satisfied there is enough evidence to provide a 
"realistic prospect of conviction" against each alleged offender. 

 
(ii) Public Interest Test - is it in the public interest for the case to be 
brought to court? The Council will balance factors for and against 
prosecution carefully and fairly, considering each case on its merits. 
The public interest factors that we will take into account are detailed 
under the enforcement options available to us in Section 6. 

 
Legal Status of this Enforcement Policy 
This Policy was approved at the Cabinet meeting of Breckland Council on 1 
May 2018 and South Holland District Council on 29 May 2018,  following an 
open public consultation between 9 and 23 March 2018. 
 
 

Page 76



 5 

2. Purpose of this Policy 
One of the functions of the Council is to act as a regulator and an 
enforcement agency for a large range of legal duties and powers applied by 
Acts of Parliament and the Regulations and Orders made under them 
(including various byelaws). 
 
This policy sets out standards that will be applied across the Council when 
acting in its role as regulator and enforcement agency and what residents, 
businesses, consumers and workers can expect from the Council. 
 
It is supplemented in some cases by more specific and detailed service-based 
procedures. 
 
These procedures also set out the approach to be followed by authorised 
officers when making decisions in respect of the Council’s compliance and 
enforcement activities. The Council is committed to ensuring that all 
authorised officers will act in accordance with this policy. 
 
 
3. When this Policy Applies 
 
3.1 Scope of the Policy 
This policy is the overarching enforcement policy for the Council. It outlines 
the approach to enforcement and lays down the principles that will be followed 
in deciding upon, and taking action. 
 
Enforcement includes any criminal or civil action taken by the Council aimed 
at ensuring that individuals or businesses comply with the law. 
 
This policy has been set in accordance with the Regulators’ Code. This 
means that the Council will be open, helpful, fair and careful to ensure that 
any action required by the Council is proportionate to the risks. 
 
The Council has set out its strategic aims and objectives and its enforcement 
services will carry out their duties in support of these. This approach is 
intended to provide better information to businesses and the community and, 
by doing so, lend support to the Council’s aim to deliver the right service, at 
the right time and in the right way. 
 
Council services will work with and consult other agencies, and other service 
areas within the Council, as necessary, where there is a shared or 
complementary enforcement role. 
 
Officers will take reasonable steps to assist businesses and individuals to 
comply with the law. However officers will be prepared to ensure compliance 
by exercising the formal powers delegated to them in the Council's Scheme of 
Delegation including, where appropriate, prosecution. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council will seek to raise awareness and 
increase compliance levels by publicising unlawful trade practices or criminal 

Page 77



 6 

activity. Where appropriate the results of specific court cases may also be 
published. 
 
4. Non-Compliance 
 
4.1 Approach to dealing with non-compliance 
An open, fair and proportionate approach will be taken in dealing with 
breaches of legislation that are regulated and enforced by the Council. 
Raising awareness and promoting good practice in regulated areas is the first 
step in preventing breaches, and officers of the Council will signpost to 
guidance on aspects of the law where requested to do so. 

 
Best efforts will be used to resolve any issues where the law may have been 
broken without taking formal action, or referring the matter to the courts when 
the circumstances indicate that a minor offence may have been committed 
and the Council is confident that appropriate corrective action will be taken. 
However, there may be occasions when the breach is considered to be 
serious and/or where informal action is not appropriate. In such cases, 
immediate enforcement action may be taken without prior notice and, as 
noted above, some services have specific legislative guidance and 
regulations that set out the enforcement requirements in these services. 
 
Advice regarding the non-compliance, the actions required and decisions 
taken at the time of the intervention, along with the reasons for these will be 
clearly explained. An opportunity to discuss the Council’s course of action will 
be provided to ensure actions are proportionate and consistent. As stated in 
the previous paragraph, where immediate enforcement action is required, the 
opportunity for discussion may not be given where there is a serious breach 
or public health or safety is at risk. 
 
Officers investigate potential breaches of legislation and they are responsible 
for managing investigations and making decisions on enforcement action. As 
part of this process, they may consult with colleagues and managers in 
determining the best and most appropriate course of action. Officers have the 
power to use a variety of legislation in the course of their duties, and these 
have been delegated to them in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation.  In relation to prosecutions, where relevant, officers’ cases are 
reviewed by a service manager and approved following a case conference 
involving key officers, as defined in the Scheme of Delegation. 
 
In some instances, the Council may have shared responsibilities or a 
complementary role with another enforcement agency. In these 
circumstances, officers will liaise with that other agency to ensure effective co-
ordination, to avoid inconsistencies and to ensure that any proceedings taken 
are proportionate and appropriate. 
 
The Council will be fair, objective and consistent in its approach to 
enforcement by following the criteria and guidance set down in relevant 
legislation and codes of practice. 
 

Page 78



 7 

The Council may publicise information about enforcement action in line with 
the Criminal Justice System document entitled ‘Publicising Sentencing 
Outcomes’.  This will usually occur once an investigation has been brought to 
a conclusion via a successful prosecution in Court. Any news releases of this 
nature are normally sent electronically by the Communications Team to 
newspapers and broadcast media to use in their news bulletins. Such 
information may also be publicised on the Council’s website and via other 
social media. 
 
4.2 How action taken is determined 
Where evidence is found that a business or other regulated person is showing 
flagrant disregard for the law by deliberately or persistently failing to comply 
with advice or requests made by the Council, it may be deemed that informal 
action is not appropriate. Under these circumstances enforcement action may 
be escalated directly to prosecution or other more severe sanctions where 
available. 

 
Where there is specific legislative guidance and regulations that set out the 
enforcement requirements these will be followed. 
 
Where a business or other regulated person contacts the Council to ask for 
advice and it transpires that a breach of legislation is present at the premises, 
the most appropriate course of action will be determined based on the factors 
outlined in section 6 below. 
 
If it is clear that the business or regulated person is keen to resolve the non-
compliance quickly, taking on board and completing the steps recommended 
by the Council, an informal approach is likely to be taken as opposed to 
triggering enforcement action.  However, if there is a serious breach and/or 
there is an imminent risk to public health or safety, enforcement action may 
still have to be taken but the Council will seek to work with the business or 
regulated person to resolve the problem as quickly as possible. 
 
4.3 Factors that influence our response to breaches 
Where a breach of legislation is being investigated the approach taken will be 
proportionate and will take into account factors such as business size and 
capacity. 

 
If the Council has provided advice or guidance to a business or regulated 
person, officers will make the necessary checks to ensure that, where this 
relates to a legal requirement rather than best practice, the non-compliance 
has been rectified. 
 
The Council may receive referrals from other enforcement bodies that require 
investigation. These referrals will typically be as a result of the other bodies’ 
inspections or investigations, or intelligence that they have received. The 
Council will also refer to other enforcement bodies where breaches of 
legislation that are dealt with by that body are found. 
 
 

Page 79



 8 

4.4 Approach to complaints of non-compliance 
Where a complaint of non-compliance relating to a business, or other 
regulated person, is received the officers investigating this breach will assess 
the information received and may make further enquiries to determine 
whether a complaint requires investigation. In assessing a complaint, officers 
may consult colleagues and managers to help assess what risk may be 
involved and this will determine what action is taken. 
 
5. Conduct of Investigations 
Enforcement action may result in either civil or criminal proceedings being 
instituted by the Council. The process that will be followed by officers in the 
investigation of alleged breaches of the law will depend on which branch of 
law the investigation is being conducted under.  As the enforcing authority in 
any proceedings it instigates, the burden of proof falls to the Council. 
 
Investigations will be carried out in compliance with the following legislation 
and in accordance with any associated guidance or codes of practice, in so 
far as they relate to the Council: 

 The Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996; 

 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000; 

 The Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001; 

 The Human Rights Act 1998; 

 The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
 
These Acts and associated guidance control how evidence is collected and 
used and give a range of protections to citizens and potential defendants. 
 
The authorised officers of the Council will also comply with the requirements 
of the particular legislation under which they are acting, and with any 
associated guidance or codes of practice. 
 
5.1 Powers of Authorised Officers 
There are numerous pieces of legislation which the Council as a local 
authority either has a duty to enforce or adopts or chooses to enforce. The 
powers available to officers under these different pieces of legislation vary 
considerably and it is not the purpose of this document to provide an 
exhaustive list of those powers. 

 
If officers come across situations where they believe they are being 
obstructed in carrying out their duties they will always explain the provisions of 
the relevant legislation in order to resolve the issue. 
 
The Council recognises the Primary Authority scheme and where appropriate 
will communicate with any identified primary authority as part of the 
enforcement/compliance process. 
 
In some cases powers of seizure are used for safety and evidence gathering 
purposes.  Where articles are removed for any of these purposes a receipt or 
notice will be given at the time of the inspection or as soon as is practicably 
possible afterwards. 

Page 80



 9 

 
Officers do not have the power of arrest; however joint working is undertaken 
with the Police and other agencies. Instances may arise where the Police or 
other agencies consider that an arrest should be made in connection with an 
authorised officer’s investigation. 
 
Officers will carry out formal interviews in line with this policy and the Police 
and Criminal Evidence Act 1984. 
 
In respect of legislation in England that contains criminal offences, there are 
strict time limits beyond which the law prevents proceedings being instituted. 
These time limits vary and are stated in the relevant legislation. 
 
In relevant cases where it is proposed that either criminal or civil proceedings 
are to be brought by the Council a report will be prepared containing all 
relevant evidence that has been gathered during an investigation. This report 
will be reviewed by a manager and case conference called to consider the 
matter, in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  The 
evidence will usually also be reviewed by a solicitor before any proceedings 
are instigated. 
 
5.2 Progress of Investigations 
Officers carrying out investigations will keep alleged offenders and witnesses 
informed about the progress of any investigation as far as their involvement in 
the process is concerned. 
 
6. Decisions on Enforcement Action 
 
6.1 The Range of Actions Available as Set Out in Legislation 
There are a range of actions that are available to the Council as set out in the 
different legislation the Council enforces. Examples of the main types of 
actions that may be considered are set out below: 
 
a) Compliance Advice, Guidance and Support 
The Council uses compliance advice, guidance and support as a first 
response in the case of many breaches of legislation that are identified. 
Advice is provided, sometimes in the form of a warning letter to assist 
individuals and businesses in rectifying breaches as quickly and efficiently as 
possible, avoiding the need for further enforcement action. A warning letter 
(sometimes called an ‘informal caution’) will set out what should be done to 
rectify the breach and to prevent re-occurrence. If a similar breach is identified 
in the future, this letter will be persuasive in considering the most appropriate 
enforcement action to take on that occasion. Such a letter cannot be cited in 
court as a previous conviction but it may be presented in evidence. 
 
Where more formal enforcement action, such as a simple caution or 
prosecution, is taken, the Council recognises that there is likely to be an 
ongoing need for compliance advice and support, to prevent further breaches. 
 
 

Page 81



 10 

b) Voluntary Undertakings 
The Council may accept voluntary undertakings that breaches will be rectified 
and/or recurrences prevented. The Council will take any failure to honour 
voluntary undertakings very seriously and enforcement action is likely to 
result. 
 
c) Statutory (Legal) Notices 
The Council has powers to issue statutory notices in respect of many 
breaches.  These include: ‘Stop Notices’, ‘Prohibition Notices/Orders’, 
‘Emergency Prohibition Notices/Orders’, and ‘Improvement Notices’. Such 
notices are legally binding. Failure to comply with a statutory notice can be a 
criminal offence and may lead to prosecution and/ or, where appropriate, the 
carrying out of work in default. 
 
A statutory notice will clearly set out actions that must be taken and the 
timescale within which they must be taken. It is likely to require that any 
breach be rectified and/or prevented from recurring. It may also prohibit 
specified activities until such time as prescribed works/safeguards have been 
carried out to the satisfaction of the authority. Where a statutory notice is 
issued, an explanation of the appeals process will be provided to the recipient. 
 
Some notices issued in respect of premises may be affixed to the premises 
and/or registered as local land charges. 
 
d) Financial Penalties 
The Council has powers to issue fixed penalty notices or penalty charge 
notices in respect of some breaches. A fixed penalty notice or penalty charge 
notice is not a criminal fine, and does not appear on an individual’s criminal 
record. If a fixed penalty/penalty charge notice is not paid, the Council may 
commence criminal proceedings in respect of the breach or take civil 
enforcement action to recover the penalty charge subject to the provisions of 
the relevant legislation. 
 
If a fixed penalty/ penalty charge notice is paid in respect of a breach the 
Council will not take any further enforcement action in respect of that breach. 
Payment of a fixed penalty does not provide immunity from prosecution in 
respect of similar or recurrent breaches. 
 
The Council is only able to issue fixed penalty notices where it has specific 
powers to do so. If fixed penalty notices are available, their issue is at the 
Council’s discretion. 
 
In some circumstances, in particular where breaches are serious or recurrent, 
it may be that prosecution is more appropriate than the issue of a fixed 
penalty notice. 
 
e) Injunctive Actions, Enforcement Orders etc. 
In some circumstances the Council may seek a direction from the court (in the 
form of an order or an injunction) that a breach is rectified and/or prevented 
from recurring.  The court may also direct that specified activities be 

Page 82



 11 

suspended until the breach has been rectified and/or safeguards have been 
put in place to prevent future breaches. 
 
Failure to comply with a court order constitutes Contempt of Court, a serious 
offence that may lead to imprisonment. 
 
The Council is required to seek enforcement orders after issuing some 
enforcement notices, providing the court with an opportunity to confirm the 
restrictions imposed by the notice. Otherwise, the Council will usually only 
seek a court order if it has serious concerns about compliance with voluntary 
undertakings or a notice. 
 
f) Simple Caution 
The Council has the power to issue Simple Cautions (previously known as 
‘Formal Cautions’) as an alternative to prosecution for some less serious 
offences, where a person admits an offence and consents to the Simple 
Caution. Where a Simple Caution is offered and declined, the Council is likely 
to consider prosecution. 
 
A Simple Caution will appear on the offender’s criminal record.  It is likely to 
influence how the Council and others deal with any similar breaches in the 
future, and may be cited in court if the offender is subsequently prosecuted for 
a similar offence. If a Simple Caution is issued to an individual (rather than a 
corporation) it may have consequences if that individual seeks certain types of 
employment. 
 
Simple cautions will be used in accordance with Ministry of Justice document 
‘Simple Cautions for Adult Offenders’. 
 
g) Prosecution 
The Council may prosecute in respect of serious or recurrent breaches, or 
where other enforcement actions, such as voluntary undertakings or statutory 
notices have failed to secure compliance. When deciding whether to 
prosecute the Council has regard to the provisions of The Code for Crown 
Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public Prosecutions. 
 
Prosecution will only be considered where the Council is satisfied that it has 
sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction against the 
defendant(s). 
 
If the evidential test is satisfied a prosecution will usually take place unless 
there are public interest factors tending against prosecution that outweigh 
those tending in favour. The more serious the offence or the offender’s record 
of breaches/ criminal behaviour, the more likely it is that prosecution will be 
required in the public interest. 
 
Assessing the public interest is not merely a matter of adding up the number 
of factors on each side and seeing which has the greater number. The public 
interest must be decided on the merits of each individual case and making an 
overall assessment. It is quite possible that one factor alone may outweigh a 

Page 83



 12 

number of other factors that tend in the opposite direction. 
 
A successful prosecution will result in a criminal record. The court may 
impose a fine and in respect of particularly serious breaches a prison 
sentence. The court may order the forfeiture and disposal of non-compliant 
goods and/or the confiscation of any profits that have resulted from the 
breach. Prosecution may also lead, in some circumstances, to the 
disqualification of individuals from acting as company directors. 
 
h) Refusal/Suspension/Revocation of Licences 
The Council issues a number of different licences, consents, registrations and 
permits. They are applied for by submission of an application, the form and 
content of which is sometimes specified in law. Applications are generally 
granted for a limited defined period and will be required to be renewed 
annually unless otherwise specified. 

 
The Council may be permitted to ask supplementary questions on an 
application form in order to assist it in reaching a decision on whether the 
applicant is a fit and proper person to hold such a licence. 
 
In some cases applications are subject to either a public or interested party 
consultation process and any application that attracts adverse comment or 
objection or does not meet Council policy requirements will be referred to an 
internal civil hearing forum to determine the application. 
 
Most licences and other permissions have conditions attached, which can be 
standard conditions or specific conditions or a combination of both. These 
conditions form part of the licence and lay down requirements that a business 
or individual must have regard to when trading. Breach of a condition may be 
a civil or criminal matter. 
 
When considering applications information supplied with the application 
together with any previous enforcement action and compliance record can be 
taken into account when reaching a decision. 
 
6.2 Explanation of how decisions are made on enforcement action 
In assessing what enforcement action is necessary and proportionate 
consideration will be given to, the following principles for enforcement set out 
in the ‘Macrory Review’: 

 Aim to change the behaviour of the offender; 

 Aim to eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance; 

 Be responsive and consider what is appropriate for the particular offender 
and regulatory issue, which can include punishment and the public stigma 
that should be associated with a criminal conviction; 

 Be proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused; 

 Aim to restore the harm caused by regulatory non-compliance, where 
appropriate; and, 

 Aim to deter future non-compliance. 
 
Where appropriate decisions about what enforcement action is to be taken 

Page 84



 13 

may involve consultation between: 

 Investigating Officer(s) 

 Senior Managers 

 Solicitors appointed to act for the Council 

 Portfolio Holder 
 
The decision to prosecute a case will be taken by those with authority to do so 
in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegations. 
 
6.3 Explanation of how Decisions are Communicated to those Affected. 
The Council will provide a timely explanation in writing of any rights to 
representation or appeal and information on the process involved. 
 
7. Review of this Policy 
 
7.1 Details of when and how the policy will be reviewed 
This policy will be reviewed periodically or in line with changes in relevant 
legislation, or Regulators’ Code. 
 
8. Comments and Complaints 
 
8.1 Details of processes for complaints and appeals 
All appeals in relation to enforcement action taken should be via the statutory 
appeals process outlined in the relevant legislation. 
 
Complaints about the conduct of officers should be made via the Council’s 
corporate complaints procedure. 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

To: Policy Development Panel – 15 January 2019

(Author: Gregory Watkinson Democratic Services Officer)

Subject Policy Development Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 

Recommendation: 

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Background

1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide 
the opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

Page 87

Agenda Item 11.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is considered identifies how strongly the 
topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 
Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.
Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Gregory Watkinson Democratic Services Officer
Telephone Number 01775 764599Tel: 01775 764599
Email: gwatkinson@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar
Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2017/18

Page 88



APPENDIX A

Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items

Date of Meeting Agenda items
15 January 2019  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  

Consideration of issues at meeting only to take place 
where areas of concern, or where more information 
is required.

 Corporate Enforcement Policy (Sarah Shipley) – 
update

 Tenancy Agreement – Vikki Cherry
5 March 2019  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  

Consideration of issues at meeting only to take place 
where areas of concern, or where more information 
is required.

 Retention Policy (Kirsty Mallet)
 Strategic Tenancy Policy (Matthew Hogan)
 Addressing Long Term Empty Homes update (Phil 

Stacey)

Future (Unscheduled) Meetings
April/May/June 2019  Review of the HMO licensing Policy – Phil Stacey

October/November/December
2019

 Housing Allocations Policy review - Housing 
Landlord Services Manager

Note: Taxi Licensing Policy – this policy will now be considered at a future meeting when 
updates have been received on relevant legislation.

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2018 / 2019

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership of 
Task Group

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel

Public Open Spaces 
Task Group

Scope to be agreed at first meeting
To look at the Council’s current policies 
on Public Open Spaces and what could 
be developed to help in the future.
In addition, following the Performance 
Monitoring Panel’s review of implemented 
planning decisions, some of the 
recommendations arising from this review 
to be addressed through the Task Group.

5 July 2016 23 November 
2017

J Astill
L Eldridge
J Reynolds
J Tyrrell(Chairman)
B Alcock (PMP)
A M Newton (PMP)

Data Protection/Data 
Retention Task Group

To consider the implications of 
forthcoming changes to the Data 
Protection Policy as follows:
 To develop the new policy in light of 

issues raised in the gap analysis and 
legislative changes and that a more 
detailed suggested scope would be 
circulated prior to the first Task Group 
meeting.

3 October 
2017

11 December 
2017

H Drury
M D McLean
A R Woolf 
(Chairman)
A Harrison 

To PDP 1 May 2018 
To Cabinet 29 May 2018

Planning Design Scope to be agreed at a later date.
Issues raised are detailed within PDP 
minutes of 25 July 2017.

25 July 2017 To 
commence 
2018, after 
end of 
examination 
period of 
Local Plan.

To be confirmed

P
age 91



Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
of the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

To make recommendations, regarding 
the present and future leisure     provision 
in South Holland.
1. By establishing what leisure provision 

the District Council presently 
provides, examining costs, resident 
satisfaction and competitiveness in 
order to identify ways of increasing 
income or reducing expenditure;

2. To understand what the District 
Council wishes to provide and what 
the public and major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future 
provision either to be supplied by the 
Council, the private sector or shared 
management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A 
date for completion of the Business Plan 
looking at Leisure Services provision, 
being drawn together by the Community 
Development and Health Manager, be 
confirmed by the Assistant Director 
Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel, for 
consideration of the document, be 
arranged.
Following consideration of the update to 
PMP on 3 March 2015 (PDP members 
were invited to attend), it was agreed that 
leisure provision must be a priority for the 
Council, and must be considered as a 
priority by the next administration 
following the District Council election.

30 April 2013 21 January 
2014

G Aley (Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G Dark
R Perkins (Vice-
Chairman)
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: Phil 
Adams

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Interim report presented 
to joint PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014
To Cabinet  7 October 
2014
Tracking of 
recommendations to 
PDP 10 February 2015 
Update on Leisure 
options to PMP 3 March 
2015 (PDP members to 
attend PMP meeting)

P
age 92



Reduction of Paper and 
Postage Task Group

 To review the use of printed material 
and postage throughout the authority 
for members, officers and residents;

 To formulate a policy on the usage of 
paper and postage, for members;

 To make recommendations for 
proposals of a policy for paper and 
postage usage for officers and 
residents

20 September 
2018

27 
September 
2016

J Astill (Chairman)
H Drury
A Woolf

No date to report 
agreed. Task group to 
be kept active 
indefinitely.

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Policy Register
	9. Tenancy Agreement Update
	Appendix 1 for Tenancy agreement update
	Appendix 2 for Tenancy agreement update
	Appendix 3 for Tenancy agreement update
	Appendix 4 for Tenancy agreement update

	10. Corporate Enforcement Policy Update
	15.01.19 Final Enforcement Policy with logos

	11. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix 1 for Policy Development Work Programme
	Appendix 2 for Policy Development Work Programme


